
 
 
Democratic Services   

Riverside, Temple Street, Keynsham, Bristol BS31 1LA   

Telephone: (01225) 477000 main switchboard   

Direct Lines - Tel: 01225 - 394414  Date: 2 April 2013 

Web-site - http://www.bathnes.gov.uk E-mail: Democratic_Services@bathnes.gov.uk 

 
 
To: All Members of the Development Control Committee 

 
Councillors:- Neil Butters, Nicholas Coombes, Gerry Curran, Liz Hardman, 
Eleanor Jackson, Les Kew, Malcolm Lees, David Martin, Douglas Nicol, Bryan Organ, 
Martin Veal, David Veale and Brian Webber 
Permanent Substitutes:- Councillors: Rob Appleyard, Sharon Ball, John Bull, 
Sarah Bevan, Sally Davis, Manda Rigby, Dine Romero, Jeremy Sparks and Vic Pritchard 
 
Chief Executive and other appropriate officers  
Press and Public  

 
 
Dear Member 
 
Development Control Committee: Wednesday, 10th April, 2013  
 
You are invited to attend a meeting of the Development Control Committee, to be held on 
Wednesday, 10th April, 2013 at 2.00 pm in the Brunswick Room - Guildhall, Bath 
 
The Chair’s Briefing Meeting will be held at 10.00am on Tuesday X XXX in the Meeting Room, 
Lewis House, Bath. 
 
The rooms will be available for the meetings of political groups. Coffee etc. will be provided in 
the Group Rooms before the meeting. 
 
The agenda is set out overleaf. 
 
Yours sincerely 
 

 
 
David Taylor 
for Chief Executive 
 

If you need to access this agenda or any of the supporting reports in an alternative 
accessible format please contact Democratic Services or the relevant report author 
whose details are listed at the end of each report. 



This Agenda and all accompanying reports are printed on recycled paper 



NOTES: 
 

1. Inspection of Papers: Any person wishing to inspect minutes, reports, or a list of the 
background papers relating to any item on this Agenda should contact David Taylor who is 
available by telephoning Bath 01225 - 394414 or by calling at the Riverside Offices 
Keynsham (during normal office hours). 
 

2. Public Speaking at Meetings: The Council has a scheme to encourage the public to 
make their views known at meetings. They may make a statement relevant to what the 
meeting has power to do.  They may also present a petition or a deputation on behalf of a 
group.  Advance notice is required not less than two full working days before the meeting 
(this means that for meetings held on Wednesdays notice must be received in Democratic 
Services by 4.30pm the previous Friday)  
 

The public may also ask a question to which a written answer will be given. Questions 
must be submitted in writing to Democratic Services at least two full working days in 
advance of the meeting (this means that for meetings held on Wednesdays, notice must 
be received in Democratic Services by 4.30pm the previous Friday). If an answer cannot 
be prepared in time for the meeting it will be sent out within five days afterwards. Further 
details of the scheme can be obtained by contacting David Taylor as above. 
 

3. Details of Decisions taken at this meeting can be found in the minutes which will be 
published as soon as possible after the meeting, and also circulated with the agenda for 
the next meeting.  In the meantime details can be obtained by contacting David Taylor as 
above. 
 

Appendices to reports are available for inspection as follows:- 
 

Public Access points - Riverside - Keynsham, Guildhall - Bath, Hollies - Midsomer 
Norton, and Bath Central, Keynsham and Midsomer Norton public libraries.   
 
For Councillors and Officers papers may be inspected via Political Group Research 
Assistants and Group Rooms/Members' Rooms. 
 

4. Attendance Register: Members should sign the Register which will be circulated at the 
meeting. 
 

5. THE APPENDED SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS ARE IDENTIFIED BY AGENDA ITEM 
NUMBER. 
 

6. Emergency Evacuation Procedure 
 

When the continuous alarm sounds, you must evacuate the building by one of the 
designated exits and proceed to the named assembly point.  The designated exits are 
sign-posted. 
 

Arrangements are in place for the safe evacuation of disabled people. 



Development Control Committee - Wednesday, 10th April, 2013 
 

at 2.00 pm in the Brunswick Room - Guildhall, Bath 
 

A G E N D A 
 
 

1. EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE  

 The Chair will ask the Committee Administrator to draw attention to the emergency 
evacuation procedure as set out under Note 6 

 

2. ELECTION OF VICE CHAIR (IF DESIRED)  

 

3. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS  

 

4. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 At this point in the meeting declarations of interest are received from Members in any 
of the agenda items under consideration at the meeting. Members are asked to 
indicate: 

(a) The agenda item number and site in which they have an interest to declare. 

(b) The nature of their interest. 

(c) Whether their interest is a disclosable pecuniary interest or an other interest,   
(as defined in Part 2, A and B of the Code of Conduct and Rules for Registration of 
Interests) 

Any Member who needs to clarify any matters relating to the declaration of interests is 
recommended to seek advice from the Council’s Monitoring Officer before the meeting 
to expedite dealing with the item during the meeting. 

 

5. TO ANNOUNCE ANY URGENT BUSINESS AGREED BY THE CHAIR  

 

6. ITEMS FROM THE PUBLIC - TO RECEIVE DEPUTATIONS, STATEMENTS, 
PETITIONS OR QUESTIONS  

 (1) At the time of publication, no items had been submitted. 
 
(2) To note that, regarding planning applications to be considered, members of the 
public who have given the requisite notice to the Committee Administrator will be able 
to make a statement to the Committee immediately before their respective applications 
are considered. There will be a time limit of 3 minutes for each proposal, ie 3 minutes 
for the Parish and Town Councils, 3 minutes for the objectors to the proposal and 3 



minutes for the applicant, agent and supporters. This allows a maximum of 9 minutes 
per proposal. 

 

7. ITEMS FROM COUNCILLORS AND CO-OPTED MEMBERS  

 To deal with any petitions or questions from Councillors and where appropriate Co-
opted Members 

 

8. MINUTES: 13TH MARCH 2013 (Pages 9 - 44) 

 To approve the Minutes of the previous meeting held on Wednesday 13th March 2013 
as a correct record 

 

9. MAJOR DEVELOPMENTS  

 The Senior Professional – Major Developments to provide an oral update 

 

10. MAIN PLANS LIST - APPLICATIONS FOR PLANNING PERMISSION ETC FOR 
DETERMINATION BY THE COMMITTEE (Pages 45 - 94) 

 

11. UPDATE ON FORMER FULLERS EARTHWORKS, COMBE HAY, BATH  

 The appropriate Officer(s) will make an oral report to update Members on progress 

 
The Committee Administrator for this meeting is David Taylor who can be contacted on  
01225 - 394414. 
 
Delegated List Web Link: http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/services/planning-and-building-
control/view-and-comment-planning-applications/delegated-report 
 

 
 
 



Member and Officer Conduct/Roles Protocol* 

Development Control Committee 
 
(*NB This is a brief supplementary guidance note not intended to replace or otherwise in 
any way contradict Standing Orders or any provision of the Local Authorities (Mode 
Code of Conduct) Order 2001 adopted by the Council on 21st February 2002 to which full 
reference should be made as appropriate). 
 
1. Declarations of Interest (Disclosable Pecuniary Interest or an Other Interest) 
 

These are to take place when the agenda item relating to declarations of interest is 
reached. It is best for Officer advice (which can only be informal) to be sought and 
given prior to or outside the Meeting.  In all cases the final decision is that of the 
individual Member.  

 
2. Local Planning Code of Conduct  
 

This document as approved by Full Council and previously noted by the Committee, 
supplements the above. Should any Member wish to state declare that further to the 
provisions of the Code (although not a personal or prejudicial interest) they will not vote 
on any particular issue(s), they should do so after (1) above.  

 
3. Site Visits 

 
- Under the Council’s own Local Code, such visits should only take place when the 

expected benefit is substantial eg where difficult to visualize from the plans, or from 
written or oral submissions or the proposal is particularly contentious. Reasons for a site 
visit should be given and recorded. The attached note sets out the procedure. 

 
4. Voting & Chair’s Casting Vote 
 

By law the Chair has a second or “casting” vote. It is recognised and confirmed by 
Convention within the Authority that the Chair’s casting vote will not normally be 
exercised. A positive decision on all agenda items is, however, highly desirable in 
the planning context,  although exercise of the Chair’s casting vote to achieve this 
remains at the Chair’s discretion. 

 
 Chairs and Members of the Committee should be mindful of the fact that the Authority 

has a statutory duty to determine planning applications. A tied vote leaves a planning 
decision undecided.  This leaves the Authority at risk of appeal against non 
determination and/or leaving the matter in abeyance with no clearly recorded decision on 
a matter of public concern/interest. 

 
 The consequences of this could include (in an appeal against “non-determination case) 

the need for a report to be brought back before the Committee for an indication of what 
decision the Committee would have come to if it had been empowered to determine the 
application. 

 
 
 



5. Officer Advice  
 

Officers will advise the meeting as a whole (either of their own initiative or when called 
upon to do so) where appropriate to clarify issues of fact, law or policy. It is accepted 
practice that all comments will be addressed through the Chair and any subsequent 
Member queries addressed likewise.  

 
6. Decisions Contrary to  Policy and Officer Advice  
 

There is a power (not a duty) for Officers to refer any such decision to a subsequent 
meeting of the Committee. This renders a decision of no effect until it is reconsidered by 
the Committee at a subsequent meeting when it can make such decision as it sees fit. 
 

7. Officer Contact/Advice 
 

If Members have any conduct or legal queries prior to the Meeting, then they can 
contact the following Legal Officers for guidance/assistance as appropriate 
(bearing in mind that informal Officer advice is best sought or given prior to or 
outside the Meeting) namely:- 

 
1. Maggie Horrill, Planning and Environmental Law Manager 
 Tel. No. 01225 39 5174  
 
2. Simon Barnes, Senior Legal Adviser 
 Tel. No. 01225 39 5176 
   

  
 General Member queries relating to the Agenda (including Public Speaking 

arrangements for example) should continue to be addressed to David Taylor, Committee 
Administrator Tel No. 01225 39 4414 

 
 Planning and Environmental Law Manager, Planning Services Manager, 
 Democratic Services Manager, Solicitor to the Council 
April 2002  



Site Visit Procedure 
 

1) Any Member of the Development Control or local Member(s) may request at 

a meeting the deferral of any application (reported to Committee)for the purpose of 

holding a site visit. 

 

2) The attendance at the site inspection is confined to Members of the Development Control 

Committee and the relevant affected local Member(s). 

 

3) The purpose of the site visit is to view the proposal and enhance Members’ knowledge of 

the site and its surroundings.  Members will be professionally advised by Officers on site 

but no debate shall take place. 

 

4) There are no formal votes or recommendations made. 

 

5) There is no allowance for representation from the applicants or third parties on the site. 

 

6) The application is reported back for decision at the next meeting of the Development 

Control Committee. 

 

7) In relation to applications of a controversial nature, a site visit could take place before the 

application comes to Committee, if Officers feel this is necessary.



 

1 

 

DRAFT MINUTES PENDING CONFIRMATION AT THE NEXT MEETING 
 
BATH AND NORTH EAST SOMERSET 
 
MINUTES OF DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE 
 
Wednesday, 13th March, 2013 

 
Present:- Councillor Gerry Curran in the Chair 
Councillors Neil Butters, Nicholas Coombes, Sally Davis (In place of Martin Veal), 
Liz Hardman, Eleanor Jackson, Les Kew, David Martin, Bryan Organ, Manda Rigby (In 
place of Douglas Nicol), David Veale and Brian Webber 
 
Also in attendance: Councillors Rob Appleyard, Barry Macrae, Robin Moss, Paul Myers, 
Vic Pritchard and Chris Watt 
 

 
139 
  

EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE  
 
The Senior Democratic Services Officer read out the procedure 
 

140 
  

ELECTION OF VICE CHAIR (IF DESIRED)  
 
A Vice Chair was not desired 
 

141 
  

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Doug Nicol and Martin Veal 
and their respective substitutes were Councillors Manda Rigby and Sally Davis. 
There was also an apology from Councillor Malcolm Lees. 
 

142 
  

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
Councillor Eleanor Jackson declared a pecuniary interest in the planning application 
at St Peter’s Factory, Wells Road, Westfield, Radstock (Item 3, Report 10), as she 
was a shareholder in the Radstock Co-op. She would therefore make a statement 
before leaving the meeting for its consideration. Councillor Brian Webber declared 
an interest in the applications at Bath Abbey (Items 1&2, Report 10) as he was on 
the Abbey Management Committee. He would therefore make a statement and leave 
the meeting for their consideration. Councillor Manda Rigby declared an interest in 
the Abbey applications as she had predetermined the applications and therefore she 
would also make a statement and then leave the meeting for their consideration. 
 

143 
  

TO ANNOUNCE ANY URGENT BUSINESS AGREED BY THE CHAIR  
 
There were no items of Urgent Business 
 

144 
  

ITEMS FROM THE PUBLIC - TO RECEIVE DEPUTATIONS, STATEMENTS, 
PETITIONS OR QUESTIONS  
 
The Senior Democratic Services Officer informed the meeting that there were 
speakers on the Enforcement Report 11 relating to Red Hill House, Camerton, who 
would be able to make their statements when reaching that Item on the Agenda. 

Agenda Item 8

Page 9



 

 

2 

 

There were also a number of speakers on the planning applications in Report 10 and 
they would be able to do so when reaching those items in that Report. 
 

145 
  

ITEMS FROM COUNCILLORS AND CO-OPTED MEMBERS  
 
There were no items from Councillors 
 

146 
  

MINUTES: 13TH FEBRUARY 2013  
 
The Minutes of the previous meeting held on Wednesday 13th February 2013 were 
approved and signed by the Chair as a correct record 
 

147 
  

MAJOR DEVELOPMENTS  
 
The Senior Professional – Major Development updated the Committee on the 
Victoria and Destructor Bridges off Upper Bristol Road, Bath. The refurbishment 
programmes were progressing and an exhibition would be held in the Museum of 
Bath at Work. Any queries could be directed to the Projects Team. 
 
At Members’ requests, the Senior Professional updated the Committee on (1) the 
plastic barriers in Dorchester Street, Bath, which would be removed in the next few 
weeks when the light-controlled pedestrian crossings were installed – the three 
crossings would line up with the pedestrian routes in and out of Southgate; (2) water 
ingress at the Units in Brunel Square - the source had been identified and a solution 
was in hand. 
 

148 
  

PLANS LIST - APPLICATIONS FOR PLANNING PERMISSION ETC FOR 
DETERMINATION BY THE COMMITTEE  
 
The Committee considered 
 

• The report of the Development Manager on various applications for planning 
permission etc 

• An Update Report by the Development Manager on Item Nos. 2-7, a copy of 
which is attached as Appendix 1 to these Minutes 

• Oral statements by members of the public etc on Item Nos. 1-6, the Speakers 
List being attached as Appendix 2 to these Minutes 

 
RESOLVED that, in accordance with their delegated powers, the applications be 
determined as set out in the Decisions List attached as Appendix 3 to these Minutes. 
 
Items 1&2 Abbey Church of St Peter and St Paul, Abbey Churchyard, Bath – (1) 
Provision of improved public and ancillary support facilities to Bath Abbey; 
alterations to Nos. 8-13 Kingston Buildings, basement to Abbey Chambers, the 
1920s Jackson Extension to Bath Abbey, the Clergy Vestry and adjoining 
vaults and cellars south of The Abbey; creation of newly excavated below 
ground spaces north of Kingston Buildings and below the Jackson Extension; 
associated landscape improvement works to the public realm and to the 
garden north of the Seventh Day Adventist Church (Ref 12/03335/FUL); and (2) 
Internal and external alterations for the provision of improved public and 
ancillary support facilities to Bath Abbey; alterations to Nos. 8-13 Kingston 

Page 10



 

 

3 

 

Buildings, basement of Abbey Chambers, the 1920s Jackson Extension to 
Bath Abbey, the Clergy Vestry and adjoining vaults and cellars south of The 
Abbey; creation of newly excavated below ground spaces north of Kingston 
Buildings and below the Jackson Extension; associated landscape 
improvement works to the public realm and to the garden north of the Seventh 
Day Adventist Church (Ref 12/03336/LBA) – The Case Officer reported on these 
applications and the recommendations to authorise the Development Manager to 
grant permission/consent subject to various provisos including appropriate 
conditions. The Update Report corrected the Decision Making Statement for the 
listed building application. She drew attention to the fact that the Conservation 
Officer’s views regarding the loss of residential use of Kingston Buildings were not 
specifically included in the report; however, they were summarised in Officer’s 
comments. The Case Officer went on to inform Members that a large number of 
representations had been received but that the vast majority were supportive of the 
proposals. The Bath Preservation Trust and the Bath Heritage Watchdog had 
withdrawn their objections as had English Heritage but who maintained their 
concerns regarding the structural work proposed at Kingston Buildings. The 
Georgian Group still objected to the proposals. 
 
The public speakers made their statements in support of the applications which were 
followed by a statement by Councillor Alan Hale who supported the proposals. 
 
The Ward Councillor Brian Webber made a statement representing his constituents 
supporting the proposals and referred to the benefits of the proposals. Ward 
Councillor Manda Rigby echoed these sentiments. (Note: Both Councillors then left 
the meeting for consideration of the applications in view of their interests declared 
earlier in the meeting.) 
 
Members asked questions about the proposals to which the Case Officer responded. 
The Team Leader – Development Management advised that the public use of The 
Abbey was a material consideration and that any harm to the building had to be 
balanced against the public benefits that would be provided. Councillor Bryan Organ 
could not see any reason to object to the proposals and moved the Officers’ 
recommendations accordingly. These were seconded by Councillor Les Kew. 
 
Members debated the motion. Councillor Eleanor Jackson felt that there would be 
loss of history and architecture and did not support the proposals. Most Members 
considered that the benefits outweighed the harm to the buildings. The Chair 
summed up the debate and put the motions to the vote. The (separate) voting on 
both applications was 9 in favour and 1 against. 
 
Item 3 St Peter’s Factory, Wells Road, Westfield, Radstock – Erection of food 
store and petrol filling station with associated development – The Case Officer 
reported on this application and her recommendation to refuse permission. She 
made reference to the Update Report which referred to various issues and 
recommended the deletion of reason for refusal 4 pertaining to highway 
contributions. Reference was made to another site at The Hollies, Midsomer Norton, 
which could be considered as a sequentially preferable site given its location and the 
fact that it accorded with various policies. 
 
The public speakers made their statements against and in favour of the application. 
Councillor Barry Macrae (Midsomer Norton North) and Councillors Paul Myers and 

Page 11



 

 

4 

 

Chris Watt (Midsomer Norton Redfield) made statements on various issues 
pertaining to this proposal. 
 
Councillor Eleanor Jackson made a statement against the proposal and advised that, 
whilst there were no comments from Radstock Town Council in the Report,, they had 
in fact discussed the proposal and resolved to make an objection. She then left the 
meeting in view of her interest declared earlier in the meeting. Councillors Robin 
Moss and Rob Appleyard then made statements in favour of the application as Ward 
Councillors for the site. With regard to a statement about the Council benefiting from 
development of the South Road site as it was owned by the Council, the Chair 
pointed out that ownership was not a material consideration. The Officers supported 
this statement. 
 
Councillor Nicholas Coombes opened the debate. He stated that policies determine 
sites and their planning applications and a supermarket was best located in a town 
centre. There were 3 sequentially preferable locations identified – South Road was a 
better site than Westfield. He went through the reasons for refusal (excluding No 4) 
each of which he supported. He therefore moved the Officer recommendation to 
refuse permission. This was seconded by Councillor David Martin. 
 
Members supported the motion making reference to loss of jobs, local shops and the 
needs of Westfield. The Chair summed up the debate and put the motion to the vote. 
Voting: Unanimously in favour of refusal. 
 
(Note: After this decision, there was a 10 minute adjournment until 4.27pm when the 
meeting resumed) 
 
Item 4 Parcel 3567 Stitchings Shord Lane, Bishop Sutton – Erection of 35 
dwellings and associated infrastructure – The Case Officer reported on this 
application and his recommendation to Authorise the Development Manager, in 
consultation with the Planning and Environmental Law Manager, to enter into a S106 
Agreement as detailed in his report and, upon completion of the Agreement, 
authorise the Development Manager to permit the application subject to conditions. 
The Update Report amended Condition 4 of the recommendation relating to 
affordable housing in order to accord with revised Core Strategy policy agreed by 
Council recently, namely, 30%. However, the applicants were agreeable to 35%. He 
referred to the receipt of a further objection and the lodging of a Petition against the 
proposal. 
 
The public speakers made their statements against and in favour of the proposal. 
The Ward Councillor Vic Pritchard made a statement against the application. 
 
Councillor Les Kew opened the debate. He considered that the application was 
premature – it did not accord with the Core Strategy and the Place Making Plan had 
not been formulated. The site was outside the housing boundary and there were 
objections by the Parish Council and local residents. He therefore moved that the 
application be deferred until the Place Making Plan had been agreed so that there 
was proper control over housing development. The motion was seconded by 
Councillor David Veale. 
 
Members debated the motion. It was considered that the Place Making Plan would 
not be provided for some time and there was a duty to determine this application. 

Page 12



 

 

5 

 

There was still the Local Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework policies. 
The Team Leader – Development Management stated that the Core Strategy had 
been approved by Council for development control purposes and could be given 
some weight. It included policy RA1 regarding development in villages which met the 
listed criteria. This and another application on the Agenda exceeded the numbers 
required but it was broadly compliant with the strategy for the area. He referred to 
recent appeal decisions where the Council had not been able to demonstrate a 5 
year land supply for housing. It was likely that, if the Committee deferred the 
application, there would be an appeal against non-determination. 
 
Members continued to debate the motion. However, on hearing the views of other 
Members, Councillor Les Kew withdrew his motion and moved that the application 
be refused as it was premature to formulation of the Place Making Plan. Councillor 
David Veale seconded. Members felt that the grounds for refusal were not strong 
enough as there were other planning policies under which the application could be 
considered. The Officers felt that there were no technical reasons to refuse the 
application – there were no adverse effects from the development to outweigh the 
benefits. The 5 year land supply needed to be demonstrated. The grounds of 
prematurity would be difficult to defend on appeal. With the seconder’s agreement, 
Councillor Les Kew amended his motion to Delegate to Officers to formulate reasons 
for refusal along the lines of premature to the Place Making Plan, the Core Strategy 
situation, outside the housing boundary, not supported by local residents and the 
Parish Council, number of houses too high etc. After a short debate, the amended 
motion was put to the vote. Voting: 5 in favour and 7 against. Motion lost. 
 
Councillor Eleanor Jackson therefore moved the Officer recommendation on the 
basis that affordable housing be 35% which Officers had indicated that the 
applicants had agreed. The motion was seconded by Councillor Liz Hardman and 
put to the vote. Voting: 7 in favour and 4 against with 1 abstention. Motion carried. 
 
Item 5 Parcel 9181 Wick Road, Bishop Sutton – Erection of 41 two, three, four 
and five bedroom dwellings including 14 affordable housing units along with 
the provision of informal public open space, vehicular access from the A368, 
landscaping and drainage – The Senior Planning Officer reported on this 
application and the recommendation to authorise the Development Manager, in 
consultation with the Planning and Environmental Law Manager, to enter into a S106 
Agreement as detailed in the report and, upon completion of the Agreement, 
authorise the Development Manager to permit the application subject to conditions. 
The Update Report amended the recommendation so that the affordable housing 
was amended to accord with the Core Strategy approved by Council recently, 
namely, 30%, and also grant free housing with a maximum 75/25 split between 
Social Rent and Intermediate Market housing. He stated that 35% affordable housing 
was now being recommended. He reported the receipt of a further objection from a 
local resident. He referred to wildlife habitat and the area set aside for a detention 
pond. 
 
The public speakers made their statements against and in favour of the 
development. This was followed by a statement by the Ward Councillor Vic 
Pritchard. 
 

Page 13



 

 

6 

 

Councillor Eleanor Jackson made reference to an area set aside for flooding. She 
moved the Officer recommendation which was seconded by Councillor Liz Hardman 
to include flooding, rights of way and ecological issues for consideration. 
 
Members debated the motion. This was a full application as opposed to outline as for 
the previous proposal in Bishop Sutton. One Member felt that the density was fine, 
another that it was too cramped. Members were not convinced on other issues of 
flooding, design, footpath and hedgerow maintenance arrangements. The Officers 
commented on some of the issues raised. The motion was put to the vote. Voting: 3 
in favour and 7 against and 2 abstentions. Motion lost. 
 
Councillor Les Kew therefore moved that the application be refused on the grounds 
of poor design, flooding, hedgerow maintenance difficulties, poor pedestrian access 
to the village, impact on the amenities of the adjoining neighbours, sustainability and 
contrary to Policy RA1 in the Draft Core Strategy which seeks to limit residential 
development in such settlements to around 50 houses. This was seconded by 
Councillor David Martin. On being put to the vote, the motion was carried, 7 voting in 
favour and 3 against with 2 abstentions. 
 
Item 6 Pack Horse Farm, Old Midford Road, Midford – Change of use of land to 
equestrian, retention of 2 mobile stable units for current DIY livery business 
and conversion of existing outdoor turnout area/starvation paddock to an all-
weather riding arena (Revised resubmission) – The Case Officer reported on this 
application and her recommendation to refuse permission. She slightly amended the 
wording in the reason for refusal. The Officer referred to the Update Report and a 
further objection received from a local resident and the South Stoke Parish Council. 
 
The public speakers made their statements against and in favour of the 
development. 
 
Councillor Neil Butters opened the debate. He considered that this was inappropriate 
development in the Green Belt and the AONB with no special circumstances to 
support the proposal. He therefore moved the Officer recommendation, including 
enforcement action as soon as possible, which was seconded by Councillor Nicholas 
Coombes. 
 
Members asked questions regarding the use of the site for horses and interpretation 
of the NPPF as regards Green Belt to which Officers responded. Some Members felt 
that the proposed equestrian use would be damaging to the openness of the Green 
Belt. Other Members considered that the alternative of agricultural use could be 
intensive and far worse than the proposal. Councillor Neil Butters queried why 
previous authorised enforcement action had not been taken. The Team Leader – 
Development Management responded that the starvation field was permitted 
development as part of the agricultural use of the site. The motion was then put to 
the vote. Voting: 5 in favour and 7 against. Motion lost. 
 
Councillor Les Kew considered that there was no material change, it was small scale 
within the overall development of the site, the site had previously been used by 
horses for grazing and these were very special circumstances to justify the 
development in the Green Belt. He therefore moved that Officers be delegated to 
grant permission with appropriate conditions including the limiting of the number of 

Page 14



 

 

7 

 

horses and events using the site. The motion was seconded by Councillor Bryan 
Organ. 
 
Members debated the motion and asked questions to which Officers responded. The 
motion was put to the vote and was carried, 7 voting in favour and 3 against with 2 
abstentions.  
 
Item 7 City of Bath College, Avon Street, Bath – Installation of public sculpture 
and plinth – The Team Leader – Development Management reported on this 
application and the recommendation to Permit subject to conditions. He stated that a 
block plan had now been received and he referred to the Update Report which 
comprised an objection received from the Bath Preservation Trust.  
 
It was moved by Councillor Manda Rigby and seconded by Councillor Brian Webber 
to approve the Officer recommendation. The motion was put to the vote and was 
carried unanimously. 
 

149 
  

ENFORCEMENT REPORT - RED HILL HOUSE, RED HILL, CAMERTON  
 
Referring to the Minutes of the previous meeting, the Enforcement Officer presented 
her report on the unauthorised material change of use of this property to a mixed use 
of daily yoga classes, weekend retreats and associated business activities. She 
informed the meeting of further representations received and of the owner’s 
consultation with the Council regarding removal of trees near the entrance to the 
property. The Enforcement Officer concluded that enforcement action was expedient 
and therefore recommended that such action be authorised.  The public speakers 
made their statements for and against enforcement action. 
 
Councillor David Veale, as Ward Councillor, sympathised with the owner but 
considered that enforcement action should be authorised and the owner given time 
to submit a planning application to ameliorate the situation as regards the access. 
Councillor Eleanor Jackson echoed the sentiment that time should be given for an 
application to be submitted but did not support enforcement action at this time. 
Councillor Nicholas Coombes considered that enforcement action should be 
authorised in order that the owner would have to submit an application to try to 
remedy the problems associated with the use and then the Planning Authority could 
consider the application on its merits. He therefore moved the Officer 
recommendation which was seconded by Councillor Les Kew. 
 
After a short debate, the motion was put to the vote. 
 
RESOLVED that delegated authority be granted to the Development Manager, in 
consultation with the Planning and Environmental Law Manager, to take any 
necessary enforcement action on behalf of the Local Planning Authority in respect of 
the alleged planning contravention outlined in the report by exercising the powers 
and duties of the Authority (as applicable) under Parts VII and VIII of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 (including any amendments to or re-enactments of the 
Act or Regulations or Orders made under the Act) in respect of this property. 
 
 
 
 

Page 15



 

 

8 

 

General Note: 
This specific delegated authority will, in addition to being the subject of a subsequent 
report back to Members in the event of enforcement action being taken, not being 
taken or subsequently proving unnecessary as appropriate, be subject to: 

(a) All action being taken on behalf of the Council and in the Council’s name; 
(b) All action being subject to statutory requirements and any aspects of the 

Council’s strategy and programme; 
(c) Consultation with the appropriate professional or technical officer of the 

Council in respect of matters not within the competence of the Head of 
Planning Services; and 

(d) Maintenance of a proper record of action being taken. 
 
Voting: 9 in favour and 0 against with 1 abstention (Note: Councillor Bryan Organ 
had left the meeting before consideration of this matter as he knew one of the 
objectors; and Councillor Liz Hardman was absent from the meeting for this item.) 
 

150 
  

NEW PLANNING APPEALS LODGED, DECISIONS RECEIVED AND DATES OF 
FORTHCOMING HEARINGS/INQUIRIES  
 
Councillor David Martin drew attention to 3 appeals allowed by the Inspector for the 
installation of photovoltaic cells at farms in the District. 
 
The Committee noted the report.  
 

151 
  

UPDATE ON FORMER FULLERS EARTHWORKS, COMBE HAY, BATH  
 
The Principal Solicitor gave an update on the current situation at this site. The 
Inspector ruled on 2 Preliminary Issues at the opening of the Inquiry, namely, the 
“Fall back” B2 use and the “Res Judicata” point. However, the Appellant disagreed 
with this ruling and had made an application for Judicial review and/or a S289 
challenge against this ruling and the Council had been named as an interested party 
in proceedings. He stated that the Council would like to make representations on the 
matter and bring certain documentation to the Court’s attention through the Treasury 
Solicitor but there would be cost implications which may not be recoverable as the 
Council was not the defendant in the matter. Whilst he advised that the Committee 
would continue to have their monthly updates, he recommended that delegated 
authority be given to the appropriate Officer to take any necessary action to protect 
the Council’s position should matters arise that cannot be brought to Committee for a 
decision. 
 
The Principal Solicitor responded to Members’ queries. 
 
It was moved by Councillor Eleanor Jackson and seconded by Councillor Les Kew 
and RESOLVED that delegated authority be granted to the Divisional Director of 
Planning and Transport Development, in consultation with the lead Members of the 
political groups on the Committee, to take any necessary action that he considers 
necessary in order to protect the Council as local planning authority in respect of the 
claim made under Section 289 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and/or 
for a Judicial Review of the Planning Inspector’s Ruling dated 31st January 2013 in 
respect of the former Fuller’s Earthworks, Fosseway, Combe Hay, Bath. 
 
 

Page 16



 

 

9 

 

 
The meeting ended at 7.45 pm  

 
Chair(person)  

 
Date Confirmed and Signed  

 
Prepared by Democratic Services 

 

Page 17



Page 18

This page is intentionally left blank



BATH AND NORTH EAST SOMERSET COUNCIL 
 

Development Control Committee 
 

13th March 2013 
 

OBSERVATIONS RECEIVED SINCE THE PREPARATION OF THE MAIN 
AGENDA 

 
 

ITEM 10 
 
ITEMS FOR PLANNING PERMISSION 
 
Item No.  Application No.  Address 
2                            12/03336/LBA                 Abbey Church of St Peters & St                      
                                                                      Pauls, Abbey Churchyard Bath 
 
 
It has come to light that an inaccurate decision taking statement was included in the 
published Committee agenda. The decision taking statement is recommended to be 
replaced with the following text; 
 
‘In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has 
complied with the aims of paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning 
Framework.  For the reasons given, and expanded upon in the related Committee 
report, a positive view of the revised proposals was taken and consent was granted’. 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 

Item No. 

 

Application No. Address 

 
 3   12/05418/FUL  St Peters Factory 
       Wells Road, Westfield,Radstock 
 
 
Additional Submissions by the applicant 
 
Since the main agenda report the applicant has made further submissions which  

a) Confirm that Sainsbury’s would be prepared to make the infrastructure 
contributions relating to highways matters as set out in the consultation 
response from David Horne dated 6 February (updated 26 February). 

b) Provided a copy of a letter sent to the Environment Agency regarding 
outstanding drainage matters.  

 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
Consultee Comments 
 
Planning Policy Officer Additional comments made 6th March 2013  
 

Page 19



1.1 This note has been prepared in order to set out the Planning Policy position in 
response to and to clarify advice set out in the GVA Report in respect of The 
Hollies. 

 
1.2 In the GVA Report it is stated that the whether this site is to be considered 

further as a sequentially preferable site will depend on whether the aspirations 
set out in the ERDP are pursued. If the ERDP takes precedence the GVA 
Report correctly states that The Hollies would be dismissed on the basis of 
lack of suitability. 
 

1.3 In terms of the Council’s Development Plan the future of The Hollies site will 
be considered through work on the Council’s Place making Plan (Site 
Allocations and Development Management Policies DPD) which will be 
prepared in order to complement and deliver the spatial strategy set out in the 
Core Strategy. Policy SV2 of the Submitted Core Strategy seeks to focus 
retail development (including some larger retail units) at the southern end of 
the High Street as the retail core within the town centre. Work on the Place 
making Plan will be informed by and test a range of evidence including the 
ERDP.  
 

1.4 In the meantime should the site become available it would need to be 
considered as a potentially sequentially preferable site. Given the location of 
the site within the town food retail provision would accord with current 
planning policy, both at a national level set out in the NPPF and local level set 
out in the B&NES Local Plan.   

 
Ecology Officer Additional comments made 11th March 2013  
 
The lighting assessment now includes assessment of impacts on ecological 
receptors. It goes on to make recommendations for measures required to further 
reduce light levels to make the scheme ecologically acceptable, and its conclusions 
rely on implementation of all these mitigation measures for lighting.  Firm proposals 
are yet needed, demonstrating implementation of these mitigation measures, 
including details such as use of baffles, lighting times and durations, and positions 
and numbers of lights that would remain on for 24 hours, before the ecological 
acceptability of the lighting scheme can be demonstrated.   
 
The letter also confirms that additional planting, and a greater proportion of native 
species, and provision of nest boxes, can be provided. 
 
The additional submitted information does not however address the key ecology 
concerns raised nor demonstrate that sufficient additional planting can be achieved 
within the current proposed layout, therefore I do not withdraw my objection to this 
proposal. 
 
Highway Officer – Additional comments made 11th March 2013 – verbal updates 
received from highway officers in respect of the Co-Op transport critique confirm that 
the highway position of Officers is unchanged by this submission. More detailed 
comments are expected to be provided for committee. 
 

Page 20



Economic Regeneration Officer – Additional comments made 5th March 2013 do 
not revise the conclusions previously made but add more clarity and explanation to 
the regeneration position. In that regard it is clarified that employment targets are not 
being reached in the area and the site should be retained for employment purposes. 
It is confirmed that the site is not sequentially in a preferred location for retail 
development and the regeneration department are actively supporting the 
development of a town centre retail site for a large foodstore and in that regard this is 
not considered to be an appropriate retail site. However in the event that retail on 
this site were considered acceptable the current proposals do not make sufficient 
provision for employment providing less jobs than the current use and measures to 
address the shortfall would be sought.  
 
Third Party Representations  
 
Radstock Co-Operative Transport Consultants – a representation has been received 
by a consultant appointed on behalf of Radstock Co-op which critiques the transport 
submission made by the applicant.  
 
The owner of the Hollies’ in Midsomer Norton High Street (the Greater Manchester 
Pension Fund). – a further representation has been made by a planning consultant 
appointed on behalf of the owner of the Hollies asserting that the Hollies site should 
be regarded as Sequentially preferable to the applications site.  
 
In a further representation the consultant queried comments made by the planning 
policy officer and made reference to the status of the EDRP and Core Strategy 
Policies in doing so reinforcing the point that the Hollies site is available and 
sequentially preferable. It is noted that the consultant has also made direct 
representations to the committee on this issue.  

 
1 Letter - A further objection has been received from a resident on the basis of traffic 
and the size of the store.  
 
Officer Assessment  
 
Transport 
 
The applicant has now confirmed agreement to the Section 106 contributions 
required by the Highway Officer. This addresses concerns relating to the highway 
reason for refusal stated at 4 and this is now removed.  
 
Whilst formal comments have not been received from the Highway officers it has 
been verbally confirmed that the critique report from the Co-op Transport comments 
does not result in changes to the highway recommendations. Full comments will be 
provided verbally.  
 
Retail  
 
It is agreed that the Hollies should not be discounted as a Sequentially preferable 
site over the application site (see policy Officers comments above) As the current 

Page 21



proposal is already subject to a sequential reason for refusal that does not however 
effect the officer recommendations.  
 
Drainage 
 
Correspondence would suggest that the applicant has been in direct discussion with 
the Environment Agency to address drainage matters. To date the Agency have not 
withdrawn their objection. Consequently no revisions are made to the drainage 
considerations as set out within the main agenda.  
 
Recommendation  
 
As per the main agenda with the deletion of Reason for refusal 4 pertaining to 
highway contributions.  
 
___________________________________________________________________ 

Item No. Application No. Address 

4 12/04238/OUT Parcel 3567 Stitching 
Shord Lane,Bishop Sutton 

 

 
Following the Full Council meeting on 4th March 2013, the amended Core Strategy 

has been adopted for Development Control purposes and can be afforded significant 

weight in planning decisions.  Policy CP.9 (Affordable Housing) has been amended 

to require affordable housing at rate of 40% in Bath and 30% in rural locations such 

as Bishop Sutton.  

The wording of the recommendation for the proposed development has been 
amended so as to bring the Affordable Housing requirements into alignment with the 
amended policy. 
Recommendation: 
Delegate to PERMIT 
4. The provision, on site, of 30% Affordable Housing the housing mix to be agreed in 

writing with Bath and North East Somerset Council  

 
 
_________________________________________________________________ 

Item No. Application No. Address 

5 12/05279/FUL Parcel 9181, Wick Road, 
Bishop Sutton 
Ward: Chew Valley South   

Following the Full Council meeting on 4th March 2013, the amended Core Strategy 

has been adopted for Development Control purposes and can be afforded significant 

weight in planning decisions.  Policy CP.9 (Affordable Housing) has been amended 

to require affordable housing at rate of 40% in Bath and 30% in rural locations such 

as Bishop Sutton.  

Page 22



The wording of the recommendation for the proposed development has been 
amended so as to bring the Affordable Housing requirements into alignment with the 
amended policy. 
Recommendation: 
Delegate to PERMIT 
DRAFT PLANNING OBLIGATIONS: 
Housing: 

- 30% of the overall residential provision to be secured as affordable and grant free 

housing with a max 75 /25 percent split between Social Rent and Intermediate 

Market housing. 

_______________________________________________________________________ 
 
Item No.  Application No  Address 
06   12/04834/FUL  Pack Horse Farm 
       Old Midford Road Bath 
 
Representations:  The following representations have been received since the main 
report was written: 
 
Cotswolds Conservation Board:  An additional representation has been made by the 
Cotswolds Conservation Board with a list of suggested conditions should permission 
be granted.  
 
Local Residents:  A further letter has been received from an objector which reiterates 
their existing objection and comments that the additional information provided as part 
of the application does not constitute very special circumstances to outweigh the 
harm to the Green Belt. 
 
Officer Assessment: 
 
The additional representations received raise no new issues and are already 
covered within the main report and there is no change to the recommendation. 
 
_________________________________________________________________ 

 
Item No.  Application No  Address 
7   13/00154/REG 03  City of Bath College 
       Avon Street 
 
1 objection comment has been received from Bath Preservation Trust. This can be 
summarised as follows: 
 
BPT welcome the principle of a statue on this site, but are concerned that the proposal is not 
supported by detailed justification for design choices such as the reason for this siting.  BPT 
would like to see a current landscaping application base-map in this application since the 
out-dated base-map is not helpful.  Overall, it is considered that this application should not 
be approved until more precise information is provided.  

Page 23



Page 24

This page is intentionally left blank



 

SPEAKERS LIST 

BATH AND NORTH EAST SOMERSET COUNCIL 

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE 

 

 

MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC ETC WHO MADE A STATEMENT AT THE MEETING 

OF THE DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE ON WEDNESDAY, 13
TH

 

MARCH 2013 

 

 

PLANS LIST – REPORT 

10 

  

Abbey Church of St Peter 
and St Paul, Abbey 
Churchyard, Bath 
(Items 1&2, Pages 62-
116) 

Jeremy Key-Pugh 
(Churchwarden) AND 
Robin Kirkland 
(Churchwarden)) 

For – To share up to 6 
minutes 

St Peter’s Factory, Wells 
Road, Westfield, Radstock 
(Item 3, Pages 117-134) 

Councillor Jane Lewis, 
Midsomer Norton Town 
Council 
 
1.Roger Daniels, Pegasus 
Planning 
2.Richard Hambleton 
(Residents Association) 
3.Rupert Bevan 
4.George Bailey (for 
Radstock Action Group) 
5.Colin Currie 
6.Patricia Flagg 
(Midsomer Norton Society) 
7.Andrew Butcher 
 
Simon Metcalfe, WYG 
(Applicants’ Agents) AND 
David Broadway, CFH 

Against 
 
 
 
Against – Up to 8 minutes 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
For – To share 8 minutes 

Parcel 3567, Stitchings 
Shord Lane, Bishop 
Sutton (Item 4, Pages 
135-160) 

Keith Betton, Chairman, 
Stowey Sutton Parish 
Council 
 
Ian Gibson 
 
Ian Jewson (Applicant’s 
Agent) 

Against 
 
 
 
Against 
 
For 

Parcel 9181, Wick Road, 
Bishop Sutton 
(Item 5, Pages 161-191) 

Keith Betton, Chairman, 
Stowey Sutton PC 
 
Matthew Burke AND 
Bernadette Braidley 
 
Ralph Hawkins, Barratt 
Homes (Applicants) 
 

Against 
 
 
Against – To share 3 
minutes 
 
For 

Page 25



Pack Horse Farm, Old 
Midford Road, Midford, 
Bath (Item 6, Pages 192-
201) 

Robert Hellard, Vice 
Chairman, South Stoke 
Parish Council 
 
Simon Metcalfe, WYG 
(Agents for objector) 
 
John White (Applicant’s 
Agent) 

Against 
 
 
 
Against 
 
 
For 

ENFORCEMENT 

REPORT 11 

  

Red Hill House, Red Hill, 
Camerton (Pages 207-
215) 

Chris Taylor, Chairman, 
Camerton Parish Council 
 
 
Tony Fry AND Jacky 
Lithgo AND Gerry Cole 
 
 
Michelle Wake AND 
Charlotta Martinus 
(Owner) 

Statement in favour of 
enforcement action – Up 
to 3 minutes 
 
Statements in favour of 
enforcement action – To 
share 3 minutes 
 
Statements against 
enforcement action – To 
share up to 6 minutes 

 

Page 26



BATH AND NORTH EAST SOMERSET COUNCIL 

 

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE 

13th March 2013 

DECISIONS 

 

Item No:   01 

Application No: 12/03335/FUL 

Site Location: Abbey Church Of St Peter & St Paul, Abbey Churchyard, City Centre, 
Bath 

Ward: Abbey  Parish: N/A  LB Grade: I 

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Provision of improved public and ancillary support facilities to Bath 
Abbey, alterations to 8-13 Kingston Buildings, basement of Abbey 
Chambers, the 1920s Jackson Extension to Bath Abbey, the Clergy 
Vestry and adjoining vaults and cellars south of the Abbey, creation of 
newly excavated below ground spaces north of Kingston Buildings 
and below the Jackson Extension, associated landscape 
improvement works to the public realm and to the garden north of the 
Seventh Day Adventist chapel 

Constraints: Agric Land Class 3b,4,5, Scheduled Ancient Monument SAM, Article 
4, Bath Core Office Area, City/Town Centre Shopping Areas, 
Conservation Area, Forest of Avon, Hotspring Protection, Listed 
Building, Prime Shop Front, World Heritage Site,  

Applicant:  Bath Abbey 

Expiry Date:  27th September 2012 

Case Officer: Rachel Tadman 

 

DECISION Authorise the Development Manger to permit subject to conditions 
 
1. The submission of additional information to clarify the proposed structural work and 

the thermal upgrading within Kingston Buildings. 
2. Attaching appropriate conditions. 
3. Awaiting the consultation period to lapse on the 28th March 2013 and no further 

material considerations being raised in representations received subsequent to the 
Committee meeting which have not been considered during the processing of this 
application which may indicate a required change to the recommendation. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 27



 

Item No:   02 

Application No: 12/03336/LBA 

Site Location: Abbey Church Of St Peter & St Paul, Abbey Churchyard, City Centre, 
Bath 

Ward: Abbey  Parish: N/A  LB Grade: I 

Application Type: Listed Building Consent (Alts/exts) 

Proposal: Internal and external alterations for the provision of improved public 
and ancillary support facilities to Bath Abbey, alterations to 8-13 
Kingston Buildings, basement of Abbey Chambers, the 1920s 
Jackson Extension to Bath Abbey, the Clergy Vestry and adjoining 
vaults and cellars south of the Abbey, creation of newly excavated 
below ground spaces north of Kingston Buildings and below the 
Jackson Extension, associated landscape improvement works to the 
public realm and to the garden north of the Seventh Day Adventist 
chapel 

Constraints: Agric Land Class 3b,4,5, Scheduled Ancient Monument SAM, Article 
4, Bath Core Office Area, City/Town Centre Shopping Areas, 
Conservation Area, Forest of Avon, Hotspring Protection, Listed 
Building, Prime Shop Front, World Heritage Site,  

Applicant:  Bath Abbey 

Expiry Date:  27th September 2012 

Case Officer: Lisa Bartlett 

 

DECISION Authorise the Development Manger to Consent subject  to conditions 
 
 
 
1. The submission of additional information to clarify the proposed structural work and 

the thermal upgrading within Kingston Buildings. 
2. Attaching appropriate conditions. 
 
 
 

Item No:   03 

Application No: 12/05418/FUL 

Site Location: St Peter's Factory, Wells Road, Westfield, Radstock 

Ward: Westfield  Parish: Westfield  LB Grade: N/A 

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Erection of foodstore and petrol filling station with associated 
development. 

Constraints: Agric Land Class 3b,4,5, Coal - Standing Advice Area, Forest of 
Avon, General Development Site, Tree Preservation Order,  

Applicant:  Sainsbury's Supermarkets Ltd & CFH Total Document Management 

Expiry Date:  10th April 2013 

Page 28



Case Officer: Sarah James 

 

DECISION REFUSE 
 
 
 1 The proposed development is not in accordance with the requirements of the sequential 
approach to development contrary to the Bath and North East Somerset adopted Local 
Plan Policy S4, Joint Replacement Structure Plan Policy 40, and paragraphs 24 and 27 of 
the National Planning Policy Framework. The development would as a result be harmful to 
the Council's retail strategy. 
 
 2 The proposed development would give rise to an unacceptable and significant adverse 
impact on the vitality and viability of the Midsomer Norton Town centre and a clear 
adverse impact on the Radstock town centre contrary to Policies S1 and S4, of the 
adopted Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan, Joint Replacement Structure Plan 
Policies 38 and 40 and paragraph 27 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
 3 Inadequate information has been submitted to demonstrate that surface water run off 
from the site can be properly and appropriately discharged contrary to Policy ES5 of the 
Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan (including minerals and waste policies) 2007, 
paragraph 103 of the National Planning Policy Framework and the advice contained within 
the NPPF Technical Guidance on flood risk. 
 
 4 The proposed development would result in the removal of existing trees and woodland 
whereby inadequate mitigation planting is proposed. This woodland provides important 
habitat and its removal would be harmful to ecology and visual amenity contrary to Policy 
NE4, NE12, D4  of the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan (including minerals and 
waste policies) 2007 and paragraph 118 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
 5 The proposed development by virtue of its layout, inadequate landscaping and poor 
relationship with off site development would be harmful to the residential amenities of 
adjoining occupiers and the visual amenities of the area contrary to planning policies D2 
and D4 of the adopted Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan (including minerals and 
waste policies) 2007 and paragraphs 58 and 64 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
31080-139 PL002 A, 31080-139 PL003 C, 31080-139 PL004 A, 31080-139 PL005 A, 
31080-139 PL006 A, 31080-139 PL007 A, 31080-139 PL0010 A, 31080-139 PL0011 A, 
31080-139 PL012 A, 31080-139 PL0013 A, 31080-139 PL0014 A, 40141_LP(90)001 A, 
40141_LP(90)002 B, 40141_LP(90)003 A, 40141_LP(90)004 A, 40141_LP(90)005 A, 
40141_LP(90)006 B, 40141_LP(90)007 B, 40141_LP(90)008 B, 40141_LP(90)009, 916-
01, 916-02, 916-03, 31080-139 PL008 B, 31080-139 PL009 B, 69/11, 04/13 
 
In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied with 
the aims of paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Framework. Notwithstanding 
the advice that was provided to the applicant in connection with this current application at 
pre-application stage and discussions in relation to the issues arising during the 

Page 29



consideration of the current planning application  whereby the unacceptable nature of the 
proposals have been clearly conveyed to the applicant, and the applicant has been 
offered opportunities to meet to discuss those concerns both on site and at the office, the 
applicant has chosen to pursue the development in its current form and has chosen not to 
withdraw the application. Consequently and having regard to the need to avoid 
unnecessary delay the Local Planning Authority has moved forward and issued its 
decision. 
 
 
 

Item No:   04 

Application No: 12/04238/OUT 

Site Location: Parcel 3567, Stitchings Shord Lane, Bishop Sutton, Bristol 

Ward: Chew Valley South  Parish: Stowey Sutton  LB Grade: N/A 

Application Type: Outline Application 

Proposal: Erection of 35no. dwellings and associated infrastructure. 

Constraints: Airport Safeguarding Zones, Agric Land Class 1,2,3a, Coal - Standing 
Advice Area, Coal - Referral Area, Forest of Avon, Greenfield site, 
Water Source Areas,  

Applicant:  Edward Ware Homes Ltd 

Expiry Date:  8th January 2013 

Case Officer: Daniel Stone 

 

DECISION Authorise the Development Manager, in consultation with the Planning and 
Environmental Law Manager, to enter into a section 106 agreement as follows 
 
Transport 
 
1. Contributions of £16,000 towards the upgrading of local bus-stops (raised kerbing, 
real-time info.) - £16,000  
 
2. Contributions of £4,000 towards an improved pedestrian crossing facility of the 
A368 (on route to local facilities) to address the severance effect of Wick Road.  
 
3. Contributions of £7,289.60 - strategic transport schemes within the Authority 
 
 
Affordable Housing 
 
4. The provision, on site, of 35% Affordable Housing the housing mix to be agreed in 
writing with Bath and North East Somerset Council  
 
Open Space and Recreational Facilities 
 
5. Contributions to fund the provision of formal open space and allotments off-site to 
serve the population, and fund the maintenance of any open space provided within the 
development, the amount of the contribution to be calculated prior to reserved matters 

Page 30



consent being granted in accordance  with the  Supplementary Planning Document 
entitled Planning Obligations, adopted July 2009. The agreed contributions shall be paid 
prior to the occupation of the development. 
 
6. A landscape management plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority prior to the first occupation of the development. This shall set out 
ongoing management objectives for any green community space and areas of retained 
and new planting provided within the development and not to be adopted by the Local 
Authority, shall indicate the areas to be managed and set out the scope, timing and 
frequency of specific maintenance operations to achieve these objectives.  
 
Education 
 
7. Contributions to fund the need for primary and secondary school places and Youth 
Services provision places arising from the development, the amount of the contribution to 
be calculated prior to reserved matters consent being granted and calculated in 
accordance with the Supplementary Planning Document entitled Planning Obligations, 
adopted July 2009. The agreed contributions shall be provided prior to the 
commencement of development. 
 
Upon completion of the Agreement, authorise the Development Manager to Permit subject 
to the following conditions:- 
 
 
 1 The development hereby approved shall be begun either before the expiration of three 
years from the date of this permission, or before the expiration of two years from the date 
of approval of the last of the reserved matters to be approved whichever is the latest. 
 
Reason: As required by Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act (as amended), 
and to avoid the accumulation of unimplemented planning permissions. 
 
 2 Approval of the details of the (a) layout, (b) scale, (c) appearance, and (e) landscaping 
of the site (hereinafter called "the reserved matters") shall be obtained from the Local 
Planning Authority before any development is commenced. 
  
This is an outline planning permission and these matters have been reserved for the 
subsequent approval of the Local Planning Authority under the provisions of Section 92 of 
the Town and Country Planning Act (as amended) and Articles 1 and 3 of the General 
Development Procedure Order 1995 (as amended).    
 
 
 3 The proposed estate roads, footways, footpaths, verges, street lighting, sewers, drains, 
retaining walls, service routes, surface water outfall, vehicle overhang margins, 
embankments, visibility splays, accesses, carriageway gradients, drive gradients, car 
parking and street furniture shall be constructed and laid out in accordance with details to 
be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing before their 
construction begins. For this purpose, plans and sections, indicating as appropriate, the 
design, layout, levels, gradients, materials and method of construction shall be submitted 
to the Local Planning Authority.  
 

Page 31



Reason: To ensure that the roads are laid out and constructed in a satisfactory manner. 
 
 4 The proposed roads, including footpaths and turning spaces where applicable, shall be 
constructed in such a manner as to ensure that each dwelling before it is occupied shall 
be served by a properly bound and compacted footpath and carriageway to at least base 
course level between the dwelling and existing highway. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the development is served by an adequate means of access. 
 
 5 Plans showing access, parking and turning areas shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority before the development is commenced. All areas 
shall be surfaced in accordance with details which shall first have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, and constructed to the satisfaction of 
the Local Planning Authority before the dwellings are occupied and shall not be used other 
than for the parking of vehicles in connection with the development hereby permitted. 
 
Reason: In the interests of amenity and highway safety. 
 
 6 The garaging hereby approved shall be retained for the garaging of private motor 
vehicles associated with the dwelling and ancillary domestic storage and for no other 
purpose without the prior written permission of the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To retain adequate off-street parking provision. 
 
 7 Prior to the commencement of the development,  
 
a.) A Construction Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority and shall include details of deliveries (including storage 
arrangements and timings), contractor parking, construction access, wheel wash 
arrangements and traffic management procedures. The development shall thereafter be 
carried out in full accordance with the phyical and procedural measures set out in the 
approved Construction Management Plan. 
 
b.) A photographic condition survey (annotated to a survey plan) shall be carried out 
recording the condition of the construction approach roads to the site (within 400 metres of 
the site) prior to the commencement of development. The survey shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. All damage resulting from 
development shall be made good in accordance with details and a timetable submitted to 
and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure the safe operation and ongoing condition of the highway. 
 
 8 Prior to the commencement of development, the intrusive investigation works 
recommended within Section 5 of the Coal Mining Risk Assessment shall be implemented 
in full.  In the event that the site investigations confirm that remedial works are required to 
treat any areas of shallow mine workings, and/or any other mitigation measures (e.g. gas 
protection) to ensure the safety and stability of the proposed development, these works 
should also be undertaken prior to commencement of development, in accordance with 
details submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 

Page 32



Reason:  In the interests of ensuring that land stability issues are dealt with properly, in 
the interests of health and safety. 
 
 9 No development shall take place until full details of a Wildlife Management and 
Enhancement Scheme have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. These details shall include: 
 
(i) Wildlife friendly planting including native planting to strengthen retained hedgerows 
(ii) Habitat creation including provision of rough grassland 
(iii) details of long term habitat and hedgerow management 
(iv) findings of pre-commencement checks and details any resulting precautionary 
measures for the protection of wildlife 
(v) Measures to enhance the value of the site to bats and birds 
(vi) Details of all other ecological mitigation and enhancement measures as appropriate 
 
All works within the scheme shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details, 
unless otherwise approved in writing by the local planning authority. The works shall be 
carried out prior to the occupation of any part of the development. 
 
Reason: In order to safeguard protected species at and around the site. 
 
10 No development shall commence until the applicant, or their agents or successors in 
title, has secured the implementation of a programme of archaeological work in 
accordance with a written scheme of investigation which has first been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The programme of archaeological 
work should provide a field evaluation of the site to determine date, extent, and 
significance of any archaeological deposits or features, and shall be carried out by a 
competent person and completed in accordance with the approved written scheme of 
investigation. 
 
Reason: The site is within an area of potential archaeological interest and the Council will 
wish to evaluate the significance and extent of any archaeological remains. 
 
11 No development shall commence until the applicant, or their agents or successors in 
title, has presented the results of the archaeological field evaluation to the Local Planning 
Authority, and has secured the implementation of a subsequent programme of 
archaeological work in accordance with a written scheme of investigation which has first 
been agreed and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The agreed 
programme of archaeological work shall be carried out by a competent person and 
completed in accordance with the approved written scheme of investigation. 
 
Reason: The site is within an area of potential archaeological interest and the Council will 
wish record and protect any archaeological remains. 
 
12 The development shall not be brought into use or occupied until the applicant, or their 
agents or successors in title, has secured the implementation of a programme of post-
excavation analysis in accordance with a publication plan which has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The programme of post-
excavation analysis shall be carried out by a competent person(s) and completed in 

Page 33



accordance with the approved publication plan, or as otherwise agreed in writing with the 
Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: The site may produce significant archaeological findings and the Council will wish 
to publish or otherwise disseminate the results. 
 
13 Development shall not commence until a drainage design for each plot or parcel of 
land, incorporating sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of the hydrological 
and hydrogeological context of the development, has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. The scheme shall subsequently be implemented in 
accordance with the approved details before the development is completed. 
 
i. The surface water drainage system must deal with the surface water run-off from the site 
up to the critical 1% Annual Probability of Flooding (or 1 in a 100-year flood) event, 
including an allowance for climate change (i.e. for the lifetime of the development). 
Drainage calculations must be included to demonstrate this (e.g. Windes or similar sewer 
modelling package calculations that include the necessary attenuation volume). 
 
ii. A clearly labelled drainage layout plan should be submitted showing the pipe networks 
and any attenuation ponds, soakaways and drainage storage tanks. This plan should 
show any pipe node numbers referred to in the drainage calculations and the invert and 
cover levels of manholes. Confirmation of the agreed discharge rate, with any flow control 
devices 
 
iii. If there is any surcharge and flooding from the system, overland flood flow routes and 
"collection" areas on site (e.g. car parks, landscaping) must be shown on a drawing.  
 
iv. Adoption and maintenance of the drainage system must be addressed and stated.  
 
v. Where infiltration forms part of the proposed stormwater system such as infiltration 
trenches and soakaways, soakage test results and test locations are to be submitted in 
accordance with BRE digest 365. 
 
REASON: To prevent the increased risk of flooding and to improve water quality. 
 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
 This decision relates to drawing nos: 
 
- 725/101E    ILLUSTRATIVE SITE PLAN     
- 725/102E    ILLUSTRATIVE MASTER PLAN 
- 725/103A    PROPOSED SITE ACCESS PLAN      
- 725/110    EXISTING AND PROPOSED SECTION AA     
- 725/111    EXISTING AND PROPOSED SECTION BB     
- 725/112    EXISTING AND PROPOSED SECTION CC     
- 725/113    EXISTING AND PROPOSED SECTION DD    
- 725/114    EXISTING AND PROPOSED SECTION EE     
- 725/100    SITE LOCATION PLAN    
- WESSEX WATER PLAN    

Page 34



 
- AFFORDABLE HOUSING STATEMENT    
- ARBORICULTURAL REPORT     
- ARCHAEOLOGICAL ASSESSMENT     
- CFSH PRE-ASSESSMENT       
- DESIGN & ACCESS STATEMENT     
- ECOLOGICAL SURVEY     
- ENERGY & SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT     
- FLOOD RISK ASSESSMENT  
- HOUSING LAND SUPPLY ASSESSMENT     
- LANDSCAPE AND VISUAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT     
- PLANNING STATEMENT  
- STATEMENT OF COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT     
- TRANSPORT STATEMENT      
- COAL MINING RISK ASSESSMENT     
- AGENT - E-MAIL RE: ARCHAEOLOGICAL DESK-B...  
- ARCHAEOLOGICAL DESK-BASED ASSESSMENT     
- REPTILE SURVEY     
- FLOOD RISK ASSESSMENT ADDENDUM dated 12th December 2012    
 
 Coal Mining and Land Stability Issues 
 
Under the Coal Industry Act 1994 any intrusive activities, including initial site investigation 
boreholes, and/or any subsequent treatment of coal mine workings/coal mine entries for 
ground stability purposes require the prior written permission of The Coal Authority, since 
such activities can have serious public health and safety implications. Failure to obtain 
permission will result in trespass, with the potential for court action. Application forms for 
Coal Authority permission and further guidance can be obtained from The Coal Authority's 
website at: http://coal.decc.gov.uk/en/coal/cms/services/permits/permits.aspx 
 
 Public Right of Way 
 
The development proposal affects the line of a public right of way and wherever possible 
the integrity of the way should be retained. In circumstances where there is no alternative 
other than to attempt to stop up or divert the way to enable the development to be carried 
out, early negotiations with the Authority to secure an order is advised. The route should 
be safeguarded throughout the whole of the order making process, which can be lengthy 
and the outcome of this is not guaranteed. 
 
Decision Taking Statement 
 
In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied with 
the aims of paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Framework. For the reasons 
given, and expanded upon in the case officer's report, a positive view of the submitted 
proposals was taken and consent was granted. 
 
 Reasons for Decision 
 
Taking account of Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, it 
has been concluded that the development accords with the National Planning Policy 

Page 35



Framework - March 2012 and all other material planning considerations including those 
listed below and emerging Development Plan policies. 
 
The site falls outside of the adopted development boundary and the proposals were 
considered contrary to policies SC.1 and HG.4 of the Adopted Local Plan and policy RA1 
of the submission draft Core Strategy. However, the Authority is presently unable to 
demonstrate a 5-year-housing land supply, and the authority neither has an Adopted Core 
Strategy or up-to-date Local Plan. Therefore, in accordance with the guidance in the 
National Planning Policy Framework the application is to be considered against the 
policies in the NPPF, with consent being granted unless there are any adverse impacts in 
doing so that would "significantly or demonstrably outweigh the benefits of the scheme". 
 
In this case the development would give rise to locally significant landscape harm, due to 
its location on a greenfield site beyond the established footprint of the settlement. 
However the adverse impacts of the development would not significantly or demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits of the scheme in terms of the delivery of housing and therefore, in 
accordance with national policy, the application has been approved. 
 
ADVICE NOTE: 
Where a request is made to a Local Planning Authority for written confirmation of 
compliance with a condition or conditions attached to a planning permission or where a 
request to discharge conditions is submitted a fee shall be paid to that authority.  Details 
of the fee can be found on the "what happens after permission" pages of the Council's 
Website.  Please send your requests to the Registration Team, Planning Services, PO 
Box 5006, Bath, BA1 1JG.  Requests can be made using the 1APP standard form which is 
available from the Planning Portal at www.planningportal.gov.uk. 
 
Drainage and Riparian water rights 
 
There must be no interruption to the surface water drainage system of the surrounding 
land as a result of the operations on the site. Provisions must be made to ensure that all 
existing drainage systems continue to operate effectively and that riparian owners 
upstream and downstream of the site are not adversely affected. Applicants or developers 
should be made aware of their responsibilities to ensure that the operations do not 
interfere with riparian owner’s common law rights to receive water undiminished in 
quantity or quality. If any watercourses crossing the site are interrupted or diverted then, 
notwithstanding the need for any statutory consents or licenses, it is the applicant's 
responsibility to take appropriate steps to protect the rights of the riparian owners, for 
which he has a liability. 
 
 
 

Page 36



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Item No:   05 

Application No: 12/05279/FUL 

Site Location: Parcel 9181, Wick Road, Bishop Sutton, Bristol 

Ward: Chew Valley South  Parish: Stowey Sutton  LB Grade: N/A 

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Erection of 41 no. two, three, four and five bedroom dwellings 
including 14 no. affordable housing units along with the provision of 
informal public open space, vehicular access from the A368, 
landscaping and drainage. 

Constraints: Airport Safeguarding Zones, Agric Land Class 3b,4,5, Coal - Standing 
Advice Area, Coal - Referral Area, Forest of Avon, Greenbelt, 
Greenfield site, Public Right of Way, Water Source Areas,  

Applicant:  Barratt Homes (Bristol) Ltd And Messrs 

Expiry Date:  5th March 2013 

Case Officer: Richard Stott 

 

DECISION REFUSE 
 
 
 1 The proposed development, together with other permitted development and 
development reasonably expected to come forward through the Core Strategy Plan period 
(2011 - 2029) would result in an excessive scale of development and set an unsustainable 
trajectory of growth for what is a small village with relatively few facilities.  As such the 
proposed development would be contrary to policies RA1, DW1 of the Schedule of 
Proposed Changes to the Submitted Core Strategy March 2013, saved policies SC.1 and 
HG.4 of the Bath & North East Somerset Local Plan including minerals and waste policies 
Adopted October 2007, and the guidance set out in the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 
 2 The proposed development would have an unacceptable and unsafe pedestrian link 
with the centre of the village (and school) by virtue of the lack of a formal crossing on the 
A368 and the lack of pavements of adequate width between Gordon Cottage and the 
Methodist church. As such, the proposed development would be contrary to saved policies 
T.1, T.3 and T.24 of the Bath & North East Somerset Local Plan including minerals and 
waste policies Adopted October 2007 and the guidance set out in the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 
 
 3 The application, which proposes achieving Code for Sustainable Homes level 3 would 
be contrary to policy CP2 of the Schedule of Proposed Changes to the Submitted Core 
Strategy March 2013 

Page 37



 
 4 Due to its design, layout, the treatment of parking and parking areas and creation of 
spaces between buildings, the proposed development would fail to respond adequately to 
the local context and character of Bishop Sutton, introducing a suburban form of 
development which would not reinforce the distinctive rural characteristics of the village.  
Furthermore insufficient information has been submitted as to how the boundary hedges 
which are of landscape and ecological value will be managed, maintained and protected 
over the long-term. As such, the proposed development would be contrary to saved 
policies NE.4, NE.12, D.2 and D.4 of the Bath & North East Somerset Local Plan including 
minerals and waste policies Adopted October 2007, policy CP6 of the Schedule of 
Proposed Changes to the Submitted Core Strategy March 2013 and the guidance set out 
in the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
 5 Insufficient information has been submitted to demonstrate that the development would 
not exacerbate flooding and drainage problems in the vicinity of the detention pond.  As 
such, the proposed development would be contrary to saved policies ES.5 of the Bath & 
North East Somerset Local Plan including minerals and waste policies Adopted October 
2007, policy CP5 of the Schedule of Proposed Changes to the Submitted Core Strategy 
March 2013 and the guidance set out in the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
 6 The development by virtue of the siting of plot 33 and its proximity and relationship with 
neighbouring properties, would result in an unacceptable loss of privacy and amenity for 
the occupiers of Highland Villas and the future occupiers of plot 33. As such, the proposed 
development would be contrary to saved policy D.2 (f) of the Bath & North East Somerset 
Local Plan including minerals and waste policies Adopted October 2007. 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
This decision relates to the documents and drawings date stamped as follows: 
 
28th November 2012: 
 
- APPLICATION FORM and SITE LOCATION PLAN 
 
4th December 2012: 
 
- AFFORDABLE HOUSING STATEMENT, ARBORICULTURAL CONSTRAINTS 
REPORT, ARCHAEOLOGICAL DESK-BASED ASSESSMENT, B&NES VALIDATION 
CHECKLIST, DESIGN & ACCESS STATEMENT, DRAFT HEADS OF TERMS S106, 
DRAINAGE STATEMENT, ECOLOGICAL REPORT   
GEOTECHNICAL INVESTIGATION AND CONTAMINATED LAND REPORT, HOUSING 
LAND SUPPLY ASSESSMENT, LANDSCAPE & VISUAL ASSESSMENT, PLANNING 
STATEMENT, REQUEST FOR A SCREENING OPINION, STATEMENT OF 
COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT, SUPERSEDED - FLOOD RISK ASSESSMENT, 
SUPERSEDED - PARKING SCHEDULE, SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT, 
SUSTAINABLE CONSTRUCTION CHECKLIST and the TRANSPORT STATEMENT   
 
Drawings: 
- 0475-100, 0475-106, 0475-109, 0475-110, 0475-200, 0475-201, 0475-202, 0475-203, 
0475-204, 0475-205, 0475-206, 0475-207, 0475-208, 0475-209, 0475-210, 0475-211, 

Page 38



0475-212, 0475-213, 0475-214, 0475-215, 0475-216, 0475-217, 0475-218, 0475-219, 
0475-220, 0475-221, 0475-222, 0475-223, 0475-224, 0475-225, 0475-226, 0475-227, 
0475-228, 0475-229, 0475-230, 0475-231, 0475-232, 0475-233, 0475-234, 0475-235, 
0475-236, 0475-237, 0475-302, 0475-320, 0475-321 A, BRS.3841_05, BRS.3841_12, 
BRS.3841_13 and D28 18 P3   
 
14th December 2012: 
 
- WESSEX WATER PLAN 
 
17th January 2013: 
 
- Drawings BRS 3841_11A, BRS 3841_13A, SK03 REV A   
 
5th February 2013: 
 
- Drawing SK03 A 
 
8th February 2013: 
 
- REVISED FLOOD RISK ASSESSMENT, REVISED PARKING SCHEDULE 
 
- Drawings 0475-102 C, 0475-103 C, 0475-104 C, 0475-105 C, 0475-107 C, 0475-108 C, 
0475-320 D, 0475-321 B, BRS 3841_13B   
 
INFORMATIVE 
PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY 
 
Clause 10 of the Draft Growth and Infrastructure Bill is to amend section 257 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act, 1990 to enable the authority to make a rights of way order 
where it is satisfied that an application for planning permission has been made. The 
measure will enable the rights of way order to be considered alongside the planning 
application, instead of having to wait until after planning permission has been granted.   
 
CONTAMINATED LAND 
 
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved 
development, work must be ceased and it must be reported in writing immediately to the 
Local Planning Authority. The Local Planning Authority Contaminated Land Department 
shall be consulted to provide advice regarding any further works required. Contamination 
may be indicated by soils that have unusual characteristics such as: unusual colour, 
odour, texture or containing unexpected foreign material. 
 
Gas monitoring and risk assessment should be carried out in accordance with CIRIA 
C665. Any gas protection measures required shall be proposed in accordance with the 
appropriate guidance. A Verification Report of the installed gas protection measures shall 
be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for consideration 
 
ADVICE NOTE: 

Page 39



Where a request is made to a Local Planning Authority for written confirmation of 
compliance with a condition or conditions attached to a planning permission or where a 
request to discharge conditions is submitted a fee shall be paid to that authority.  Details 
of the fee can be found on the "what happens after permission" pages of the Council's 
Website.  Please send your requests to the Registration Team, Planning Services, PO 
Box 5006, Bath, BA1 1JG.  Requests can be made using the 1APP standard form which is 
available from the Planning Portal at www.planningportal.gov.uk. 
 
A 
LEGAL FRAMEWORK 
o Town and Country Planning Act, 1990  
 
BATH & NORTH EAST SOMERSET LOCAL PLAN INCLUDING MINERALS AND 
WASTE POLICIES ADOPTED FOR OCTOBER 2007 
o D.2 General design and public realm considerations 
o D.4 Townscape Considerations 
o IMP.1 Planning obligations 
o CF.3 Contributions from new development to community facilities 
o SR.3: Provision of recreational facilities to meet the needs of new developments 
o BH.12 Important archaeological remains 
o HG.4 Residential Development in R.1 Settlements 
o HG.7 Minimum residential density 
o HG.8: Affordable Housing on allocated and large windfall sites 
o HG.10 Housing Outside Settlements 
o GB.1 Control of Development in the Green Belt 
o GB.2 Visual amenities of the Green Belt 
o ES.5 Foul and surface water drainage 
o ES.12 Noise and Vibration 
o NE.1 Landscape character 
o NE.4: Trees and woodland conservation 
o NE.10 Nationally important species and habitats 
o NE.11 Locally important species & habitats 
o NE.12 Natural features: retention, new provision and management 
o NE.14 Flood Risk 
o T.1 Overarching access policy 
o T.3 Promotion of walking and use of public transport 
o T.24 General development control and access policy 
o T.26 On-site parking and servicing provision 
 
BATH AND NORTH EAST, SOMERSET, BRISTOL, NORTH SOMERSET, SOUTH 
GLOUCESTERSHIRE JOINT REPLACEMENT STRUCTURE PLAN (ADOPTED 
SEPTEMBER 2002) 
 
o Policy 1 Sustainable Development 
o Policy 17 Landscape Character 
o Policy 54 Car Parking 
 
DRAFT CORE STRATEGY, MAY 2011 
The Draft core strategy is currently suspended following an Examination in Public however 
remains a material consideration. At this stage the Core Strategy has limited weight but 

Page 40



should be read in conjunction with ID28, the Inspector's Preliminary Conclusions on 
Strategic Matters and Way Forward, June 2012:  
Chapter 3, Rural Areas of ID28 is pertinent to this application 
 
Draft Core Strategy Policies: 
 
o RA1 - Development in the Villages meeting the listed criteria 
o RA2 - Development in Villages outside the Green Belt not meeting Policy RA1 
Criteria 
o CP2 - Sustainable Construction 
o CP6 Environmental Quality 
o CP8 Green Belt 
o CP9 - Affordable Housing 
o CP10 - Housing Mix 
o CP13 - Infrastructure Provision 
 
SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING GUIDANCE 
o Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Document, Adopted July 2009 
o Mendip Hills AONB Management Plan 2009 -2014 
o Rural Landscapes of Bath and North East Somerset - A Landscape Character 
Assessment, April 2003 
 
NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK 
The NPPF came into effect on the 27th March 2012 replacing all previous Planning Policy 
Statements (PPS's) and Guidance Notes (PPG's). The NPPF is of primary consideration 
in the determination of this application. 
 
In the case of the B&NES Local Plan, although adopted in 2007 this was made in 
accordance with 1990 Town and Country Planning Act and therefore Para 215 of the 
NPPF is applicable where it is stated "due weight should be given to relevant policies in 
existing plans according to their degree of consistency with this framework (the closer the 
policies in the plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be 
given)". 
 
 
 
 

Item No:   06 

Application No: 12/04834/FUL 

Site Location: Pack Horse Farm, Old Midford Road, Midford, Bath 

Ward: Bathavon South  Parish: South Stoke  LB Grade: N/A 

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Change of use of land to equestrian, retention of 2no. mobile stable 
units for current DIY livery business and conversion of existing 
outdoor turnout area/starvation paddock to an all-weather riding arena 
(revised resubmission). 

Page 41



Constraints: Agric Land Class 1,2,3a, Agric Land Class 3b,4,5, Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty, Greenbelt, Listed Building, Water Source 
Areas,  

Applicant:  Mr Robert Barrett 

Expiry Date:  11th February 2013 

Case Officer: Rachel Tadman 

 

DECISION Delegate to permit subject to appropriate conditions 
 
 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
This decision relates to drawing nos 035 004 Rev C, 035 002 Rev D, 035 011, 035 012, 
Longcross Stables 05, S4926/001 A, S4926/100. 
 
 
 
 

Item No:   07 

Application No: 13/00154/REG03 

Site Location: City Of Bath College, Avon Street, City Centre, Bath 

Ward: Abbey  Parish: N/A  LB Grade: N/A 

Application Type: Regulation 3 Application 

Proposal: Installation of a public sculpture and plinth. 

Constraints: Agric Land Class 3b,4,5, Article 4, Conservation Area, Forest of Avon, 
Hotspring Protection, World Heritage Site,  

Applicant:  Bath And North East Somerset Council 

Expiry Date:  26th March 2013 

Case Officer: Tessa Hampden 

 

DECISION PERMIT 
 
 
 1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended) and to avoid the accumulation of unimplemented planning permissions. 
 
 2 The development/works hereby permitted shall only be implemented in accordance with 
the plans as set out in the plans list below. 
 
Reason: To define the terms and extent of the permission. 
 
PLANS LIST: 

Page 42



 
Plan:  1133/03 date stamped 25 Jan 2013  and 1133/03A date stamped 25th February 
2013 and Design Statement date stamped 14th January 2013 
 
REASONS FOR GRANTING APPROVAL 
 
1. The decision to grant approval has taken account of the Development Plan, relevant 
emerging Local Plans and approved Supplementary Planning Guidance. This is in 
accordance with the policies set out below at A. 
 
A: 
BATH & NORTH EAST SOMERSET LOCAL PLAN INCLUDING MINERALS AND 
WASTE POLICIES ADOPTED FOR OCTOBER 2007 
D.2 General Design and Public Realm Consideration 
D.4 Townscape Consideration 
BH.1 World Heritage Site 
BH.6 Conservation Area 
 
2. All other material considerations, including the views of third parties, have been 
considered and they do not outweigh the reasons for approving the proposed 
development. 
 
3. The relocation of this art installation which is currently in situ has been carefully sited 
and 
designed so as not to adversely harm the setting of the character and appearance of this 
part of the Conservation Area or setting of the wider World Heritage Site. The 
development does not impact upon highway safety. 
 
DECISION TAKING STATEMENT 
In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied with 
the aims of paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Framework. For the reasons 
given, and expanded upon in a related case officer's report, a positive view of the 
submitted proposals was taken and permission was granted. 
 
 
 

Page 43



Page 44

This page is intentionally left blank



Bath & North East Somerset Council 

MEETING: Development Control Committee   

AGENDA 
ITEM 
NUMBER 

MEETING 
DATE: 

10th April 2013 

RESPONSIBLE 
OFFICER: 

Lisa Bartlett, Development Manager, Planning & 
Transport Development (Telephone: 01225 477281) 

TITLE: APPLICATIONS FOR PLANNING PERMISSION  

WARDS: ALL 

BACKGROUND PAPERS:  

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

List of background papers relating to this report of the Development Manager, Planning and Transport Development about 
applications/proposals for Planning Permission etc.  The papers are available for inspection online at 
http://planning.bathnes.gov.uk/PublicAccess/. 

[1] Application forms, letters or other consultation documents, certificates, notices, correspondence and all drawings submitted by 
and/or on behalf of applicants, Government Departments, agencies or Bath and North East Somerset Council in connection 
with each application/proposal referred to in this Report. 

[2] Department work sheets relating to each application/proposal as above. 

[3] Responses on the application/proposals as above and any subsequent relevant correspondence from: 

(i) Sections and officers of the Council, including: 

Building Control 
Environmental Services 
Transport Development 
Planning Policy, Environment and Projects, Urban Design (Sustainability) 
 

(ii) The Environment Agency 
(iii) Wessex Water 
(iv) Bristol Water 
(v) Health and Safety Executive 
(vi) British Gas 
(vii) Historic Buildings and Monuments Commission for England (English Heritage) 
(viii) The Garden History Society 
(ix) Royal Fine Arts Commission 
(x) Department of Environment, Food and Rural Affairs 
(xi) Nature Conservancy Council 
(xii) Natural England 
(xiii) National and local amenity societies 
(xiv) Other interested organisations 
(xv) Neighbours, residents and other interested persons 
(xvi) Any other document or correspondence specifically identified with an application/proposal 
 

[4] The relevant provisions of Acts of Parliament, Statutory Instruments or Government Circulars, or documents produced by the 
Council or another statutory body such as the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan (including waste and minerals policies) 
adopted October 2007  

The following notes are for information only:- 

[1] “Background Papers” are defined in the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 do not include those disclosing 
“Exempt” or “Confidential Information” within the meaning of that Act.  There may be, therefore, other papers relevant to an 

 

Agenda Item 10

Page 45



application which will be relied on in preparing the report to the Committee or a related report, but which legally are not required 
to be open to public inspection. 

[2] The papers identified or referred to in this List of Background Papers will only include letters, plans and other documents 
relating to applications/proposals referred to in the report if they have been relied on to a material extent in producing the 
report. 

[3] Although not necessary for meeting the requirements of the above Act, other letters and documents of the above kinds 
received after the preparation of this report and reported to and taken into account by the Committee will also be available for 
inspection. 

[4] Copies of documents/plans etc. can be supplied for a reasonable fee if the copyright on the particular item is not thereby 
infringed or if the copyright is owned by Bath and North East Somerset Council or any other local authority. 

 

INDEX 

 
 

ITEM 
NO. 

APPLICATION NO. 
& TARGET DATE: 

APPLICANTS NAME/SITE ADDRESS 
and PROPOSAL 

WARD: OFFICER: REC: 
 

 
 

1 12/04076/FUL 
21 November 2012 

Thameside Property Company Ltd 
Gibbs Mews, Walcot Street, Bath, ,  
Erection of 4no. dwellings (retrospective 
amendments to application 
08/00591/FUL amended by 
11/03532/NMA). 

Abbey Rachel 
Tadman 

REFUSE 

 
2 12/05579/FUL 

18 February 2013 
Dormie Holdings Ltd. 
Charmydown Lodge, Charmydown 
Lane, Swainswick, Bath, BA1 8AB 
Conversion of Charmydown Barn to a 
5no. bed dwelling, alteration and 
reinstatement of Charmydown Lodge to 
a 3no. bed dwelling, retention of new 
detached garage block, minor works to 
the walls of the former pigsties and 
associated soft and hard landscaping 
following demolition of modern barns, 
stables and lean-to (revisions to 
permitted scheme 08/04768/FUL and 
08/04769/LBA). 

Bathavon 
North 

Rebecca 
Roberts 

REFUSE 

 
3 12/05580/LBA 

14 February 2013 
Dormie Holdings Ltd. 
Charmydown Lodge, Charmydown 
Lane, Swainswick, Bath, BA1 8AB 
Internal and external alterations for the 
conversion of Charmydown Barn to a 
5no. bed dwelling, alteration and 
reinstatement of Charmydown Lodge to 
a 3no. bed dwelling, retention of new 
detached garage block, minor works to 
the walls of the former pigsties following 
demolition of modern barns, stables and 
lean-to (revisions to permitted scheme 
08/04768/FUL and 08/04769/LBA). 

Bathavon 
North 

Ian Lund CONSENT 

 

Page 46



4 13/00376/FUL 
26 March 2013 

Mr And Mrs C & J Linegar 
The Chase, Rectory Lane, Compton 
Martin, Bristol, Bath And North East 
Somerset 
Erection of extensions including a first 
floor extension to create a 1.5 storey 
dwelling (Revised proposal) 

Chew Valley 
South 

Heather 
Faulkner 

PERMIT 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 47



 

REPORT OF THE DEVELOPMENT MANAGER OF PLANNING AND TRANSPORT 
DEVELOPMENT ON APPLICATIONS FOR DEVELOPMENT 

 

Item No:   1 

Application No: 12/04076/FUL 

Site Location: Gibbs Mews Walcot Street Bath   

 
 

Ward: Abbey  Parish: N/A  LB Grade: N/A 

Ward Members: Councillor B J Webber Councillor Manda Rigby  

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Erection of 4no. dwellings (retrospective amendments to application 
08/00591/FUL amended by 11/03532/NMA). 

Page 48



Constraints: Agric Land Class 3b,4,5, Article 4, Conservation Area, Flood Zone 2, 
Flood Zone 3, Forest of Avon, Hotspring Protection, Sites of Nature 
Conservation Imp (SN), World Heritage Site,  

Applicant:  Thameside Property Company Ltd 

Expiry Date:  21st November 2012 

Case Officer: Rachel Tadman 

 
REPORT 
REASON FOR REPORTING APPLICATION TO COMMITTEE: Following a request from 
Councillor Manda Rigby the Chair of Development Control Committee confirmed that the 
application should be considered by Committee. 
 
PROPOSAL: Erection of 4 no dwellings (retrospective amendments to application 
08/00591/FUL amended by 11/03532/NMA) 
 
SITE LOCATION: Gibbs Mews, Walcot Street, Bath 
 
DESCRIPTION OF SITE AND APPLICATION: 
 
The application relates to an existing development at Gibbs Mews, Walcot Street which is 
located at the rear of Chapel Row and adjacent to St Swithin's Yard.  The site comprises 
of a terrace of four dwellings and associated parking and amenity areas.   
 
The site is within the Bath Conservation Area and World Heritage Site and is within flood 
zones 2 and 3 along with a Site of Nature Conservation Importance.  It is also within the 
setting of a number of Grade II listed buildings.  The site adjoins the River Avon at the 
rear. 
 
The proposal is for the erection of a terrace of four dwellings to include retrospective 
amendments to application no 08/00591/FUL as amended by 11/03532/NMA..   
 
Planning permission for the original development of 4 dwellings on this site was approved 
in 2007 under planning ref:  05/04017/FUL and a revised application was then approved in 
2009 under planning ref: 08/00591/FUL.  An application for a Non-material amendment, 
planning ref:  11/03532/NMA, was subsequently approved  making some minor 
amendments to the 2009 permission. 
 
Construction was subsequently commenced but it has been found that the development 
has not been built in accordance with the approved plans in a number of areas.  
Specifically these relate to: 
 

• The type and size of the walling stone  

• The materials and design (fenestration) of the windows 

• The design of the rear balustrade to the maisonette 
 
RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY:    
 
05/04017/FUL - PERMIT - 11 April 2007 -  Erection of 4 houses, as amended by drawings 
received 6th April 2006. 

Page 49



 
08/00591/FUL - PERMIT - 10 February 2009 - Erection of 4 houses (resubmission of 
application no 05/04017/FUL 
 
11/01989/FUL - RF - 26 July 2011 - Erection of four dwellings (Revised proposal) 
 
11/04589/COND - DISCHG - 19 December 2011 - Discharge of condition 4 of application 
08/00591/FUL (Erection of 4 houses (resubmission of application no 05/04017/FUL) 
 
11/03532/NMA - APP - 12 September 2011 - Non-Material Amendment to application 
08/00591/FUL (Erection of 4 houses (resubmission of application no 05/04017/FUL) 
 
12/02639/COND - DISCHG - 9 August 2012 - Discharge of condition 7 of application 
08/00591/FUL( Erection of 4 houses (resubmission of application no05/04017/FUL) 
 
SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS/REPRESENTATIONS 
HIGHWAYS DEVELOPMENT OFFICER:  In terms of traffic impact, I am satisfied that 
there is unlikely to be an increase in traffic movements from the proposed development.  
 
Highways comments to previous similar developments on this site identified an issue in 
respect of visibility from the access, and the potential conflict with pedestrians on Walcot 
Street. To this end a S106 agreement secured the installation of bollards in the pavement, 
which are now in place. 
 
Similarly, to address the issue of vehicular visibility, contributions were secured towards 
the introduction of a 20mph speed limit on Walcot Street. This contribution was paid and 
the limit installed. 
 
Parking for the development remains appropriate given the sites convenience for 
alternative modes of travel, and is proximity to local facilities - schools, shops, 
employment etc. 
 
The cycle parking shown should be secure and sheltered to ensure their use. 
 
There are therefore no highway objections to the proposed development subject to 
conditions being attached to any consent granted. 
 
CONSERVATION OFFICER:  Paragraph 137 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
states that: 
Local Planning Authorities should look for opportunities for new development within 
Conservation Areas and World Heritage Sites and within the setting of heritage assets to 
enhance or better reveal their significance.  
 
The site is set back and screened from the road frontage but is clearly visible from the 
river. I also understand that the development allows land for a riverside footpath which 
when constructed will provide close public views of the development.  
 
The consistent use of natural Bath stone makes a significant contribution to the locally 
distinct character and appearance of the conservation area and World Heritage Site. Use 
of authentic traditional materials, including Bath stone is encouraged in new development 

Page 50



to respect the above designations and status. Artificial materials which can harm quality 
and fail to respect the special character and appearance of the conservation area are 
therefore to be avoided.  
 
Use of Bath cast stone 
Artificial stone has been used at the development under construction at Gibbs Mews in 
place of natural Bath stone as required by Condition 3 of the planning permission. The 
facing used for the development is a reconstituted stone faced concrete block, 
manufactured by Bath Cast Stone. Whether or not this product is a fully reconstituted 
stone block or a concrete block faced with reconstituted stone is irrelevant in visual terms. 
Both display the same external appearance and it must therefore be considered if this is 
an acceptable material for use in the historic setting.  
 
In my professional opinion the product used is incompatible with the appearance and 
character derived from a natural Bath stone. The standard size of the blocks (300mm) is 
more akin to concrete block-work in appearance, and together with its extremely regular 
coursing and texture appears artificial and out of character with this part of the 
Conservation Area and World Heritage Site. Furthermore, the quality of the workmanship 
is poor, resulting in uneven wall surfaces, particularly on the gable ends. The majority of 
the surrounding buildings, some of which are listed, display natural Bath stone facades, 
identified by generally larger and less regular sized ashlar blocks than those used on the 
development. They also have a warmer colour and softer texture and grain than that of 
reconstituted stone which has a more precise and harder appearance.  
 
Use of small paned timber windows 
It is recognised that the planning permission granted in 2008 included simple 
contemporary design bronze aluminium windows. The windows inserted in the 
development are small paned double glazed horizontal sliding sashes manufactured by 
Jeld-Wen. These have an eight-over-eight design which is not characteristic of the 
Georgian City and therefore inappropriate. Furthermore, the manufactured type used is of 
poor quality and detail, more usually found on large scale developer housing schemes. 
 
The simple sliding sashes without glazing bars as approved are a more honest design, 
sympathetic to local character. I would therefore recommend that the existing windows are 
removed and replaced with the window design as originally approved.   
 
Conclusion 
 
The development as built fails to meet the guidance contained in the NPPF. 
 
The historic and architectural character of the city is strongly identified by the consistent 
use natural stone, typifying Bath's heritage assets and their settings, and justifies why the 
planning permission required its use. Notwithstanding the planning history of this site I am 
of the opinion that the reconstituted stone used at Gibbs Mews fails to match the quality 
and appearance of natural Bath stone and does not therefore enhance the setting of this 
part of the conservation area and World Heritage Site, and should be resisted.  
 
The appearance and quality of the unauthorised window types used on the development 
fail to preserve, enhance or respect local character and should be replaced by units 
designed as originally permitted. 

Page 51



 
ENVIRONMENT AGENCY:  We understand the proposals relate to altering the external 
wall facing block and window design for the previously approved scheme. We have no 
objection to these changes. We would refer the Council to our previous planning response 
to the 08/00591/FUL application where we recommended conditions and informatives in 
relation to the proposals (our letter dated 07 April 2008, ref: WX/2008/106439/02-L01). 
 
EDUCATION SERVICES:  Contributions totalling are sought for £18,876.74, this 
comprises a contribution for school places of £18,276.44 and £600.30 for youth services.  
 
OTHER REPRESENTATIONS / THIRD PARTIES 
 
LOCAL MEMBER:  Councillor Manda Rigby has made the following comments: 
 
I would like to register my objection to the above application, and would like to ask that 
this is brought to committee if you are minded to approve it. 
 
My reasons are as follows 
 
1. I do not object to the change in windows requested and indeed already fitted. 
 
2. The applicant has stated that they are requesting permission to change the size of the 
blocks used, but refer to them still as "Reconstituted Bath Stone Blocks" in section 9, 
materials, for which permission has not been given. They are requesting merely a change 
to the size, whilst not acknowledging the on-going enforcement action over use of the 
wrong materials, but by the way this application is phrased, could claim that the council 
was also giving retrospective permission for the reconstituted stone as well. 
 
It is a shame that the sample board showing which stone was in fact approved has been 
removed by the applicant, and is especially unfortunate that this was done after the 
applicant was made aware that the council had not given approval for reconstituted stone 
and the only evidence that the applicant could have had was on the sample board, 
destroyed subsequent to being made aware of the councils position on the approved 
material. 
 
I object to the use of the materials for all the reasons given in the objection of Mark 
McConnell and already published on the planning portal. 
 
THE BATH PRESERVATION TRUST: Bath Preservation Trust strongly objects to this 
application for the following reasons:   
 
Our particular objection relates to the use of reconstituted Bath stone. The original 
application (05/04017/FUL) specified [NATURAL] "Bath stone ashlar", and the relevant 
condition required "Natural local stone". The applicant now claims that the sample panel, 
which he maintains was approved in May 2008, used reconstituted Bath stone. If this were 
the case it seems strange that this is not mentioned in the letter from the then planning 
officer Neil Harvey, especially as reference to "cast stone" used in earlier correspondence 
by the applicant, was countered by advice that the use of reconstituted stone would 
require a new planning application (January 2008). 
 

Page 52



In any case, the condition relating to external walling material was restated in February 
2009 (08/00591/FUL), repeating the need for the walling material to be 'Natural local 
stone' and [merely] confirming that the type, size, colour, pointing, coursing and jointing 
had been approved previously.  
 
It is the assertion of the applicant both that the sample panel was made of reconstituted 
stone and that reconstituted stone meets the condition for natural stone. This seems 
perverse; natural stone would suggest in its natural state, and reconstituted stone is a 
product of a manufacturing process, & could never be described as 'sawn', as it is on the 
relevant drawings (08/00591/FUL). If the definition of 'natural stone' is extended to 
encompass reconstituted stone, it would appear extremely difficult for a condition to be set 
which requires 'real' Bath stone to be used.  
 
It is to be noted that the BS1217 relating to cast stone cross references other British 
standards which specifically differentiate between 'cast stone' and 'natural stone', and 
there is a whole range of separate British Standards which deal with the specification for 
natural stone. Since the applicant has also failed to meet the condition relating to the 
sample size, it is hard to see how [and] aspects of condition 3 have been adequately met. 
Indeed, there does not appear to be any formal discharge of condition 3 on the file, nor of 
conditions 10, 11 & 13, which are also conditions precedent to 05/04017/FUL. 
 
The assertion in the applicant's letter of 28 August 2012 that the appearance of the 
property built in reconstituted stone is 'materially superior to the surrounding buildings', 
which include the adjacent Grade II Chatham Row seems extraordinary. 
 
We therefore reject the applicant's assertion that reconstituted 'cast' stone meets a 
condition for natural stone; this application is therefore contrary to policies D2 and D4 of 
the local plan. 
 
We accept the applicant's proposal for timber-sashed windows as an improvement to the 
previous application and, because these are superior materials more appropriate for the 
conservation area, suggest that these are accepted despite the applicant's failure to apply 
for an amendment.  
 
In relation to the issue of the stone we strongly encourage the local authority to make full 
use of their enforcement powers in recognition that 'Effective enforcement is important as 
a means of maintaining public confidence in the planning system' (NPPF para 207). 
 
Further comments received following revised plans:  The Trust recognises the alterations 
which have been made to this application, but note that our original concerns regarding 
the use of materials inferior to those envisaged in the original planning application and in 
the subsequent conditions have not been addressed, so we maintain our objection to the 
development as proposed. In addition, our previous objection acknowledged that the 
change to the fenestration was preferable. The new plans show large 'Victorian' panes for 
the widows while retaining small-paned glass in the doors and the resultant elevation is 
muddled. 
 
LOCAL RESIDENTS:  A total of 18 representations have been received. Of these 14 
object to the scheme raising the following concerns: 
 

Page 53



1. The development has been constructed of materials that are not in accordance with 
the Condition 3 of 08/00591/FUL.  This has shown a disregard for the planning process 
which is unacceptable. 
2. The development has used poor quality and inferior materials.   
3. Reconstructed stone is not the same as natural stone. 
4. The development does not enhance the character of the Conservation Area or the 
World Heritage Site. 
5. The windows are of poor quality design and do not reflect the character of the area. 
6. Detrimental impact on residential amenity. 
 
A total of 4 representations that support the development  have been received. 
 
POLICIES/LEGISLATION 
 
Bath & North East Somerset Local Plan including minerals & waste policies adopted 2007 
- the following policies are relevant: 
 
D.2 and D.4 - Design and Residential Amenity 
HG.4 - Residential development within Bath 
CF.3 - Developer Contributions 
BH.1, BH.2, BH.6 - Impact on Listed Buildings and their setting, Bath Conservation Area 
and World Heritage Site. 
NE.9 and NE.15 - Nature Conservation 
T1, T24 - Highway Safety 
 
Bath and North East Somerset Submission Core Strategy (May 2011).  At its meeting on 
4th March 2013 the Council approved the amended Core Strategy for Development 
Management purposes. Whilst it is not yet part of the statutory Development Plan the 
Council attaches substantive weight to the amended Core Strategy in the determination of 
planning applications in accordance with the considerations outlined in paragraph 216 of 
the National Planning Policy Framework.  
 
Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Document, adopted 2009. 
 
National Planning Policy Framework - March 2012 
 
OFFICER ASSESSMENT 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION AND EXPANDED PLANNING HISTORY: 
 
The site has a relatively long planning history and a complicated situation that has 
resulted in the submission of this application to regularise outstanding matters.  For clarity 
all the applications described below have been submitted by Thameside Property 
Company Ltd.  
 
A chronological list of events has been compiled and is explained below: 
 
05/04017/FUL - Planning permission was granted for four dwellings with the attached 
Condition 3 stating: 
 

Page 54



3 Natural local stone shall be used in the construction of the external walls of the 
building(s) 
and no development shall commence until samples of the stone, its coursing, bedding and 
jointing have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the development and the surrounding area. 
 
Furthermore the application documents clearly refer to the proposed walling materials as 
'Bath Stone Ashlar'. 
 
On 16 May 2008 a letter was sent to the Agent from a Senior Planning Officer, in relation 
to Condition 3, referring to a site meeting on 14 May 2008 where a sample panel had 
been viewed.  The letter confirms that 'the sample of plain Bath stone ashlar jointed as the 
sample was acceptable'. 
 
Whilst the letter does not refer to the size of the stone blocks within the sample panel it 
has been confirmed by the Agent that they were 440 x 100 x 294 mm blocks. 
 
Whilst Condition 3 does not appear to have ever been formally discharged it is clear that 
the Officer was, in his view, considering Bath stone ashlar and not reconstructed stone. 
 
08/00591/FUL - At the time of writing the 16 May 2008 letter, a revised application ref: 
08/00591/FUL was also under consideration having been received on 8 February 2008. 
 
This application was subsequently approved on 10 February 2009 with the attached 
Condition 3 stating: 
 
3 Natural local stone shall be used in the construction of the external walls of the building 
to correspond in respect of type, size, colour, pointing, coursing and jointing to the sample 
panels erected on the site and approved by the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason:  In the interests of the appearance of the development and the surrounding area. 
 
Again the application documents, including the approved plans, clearly refer to the 
proposed walling materials as Bath Stone or coursed sawn stone or rusticated ashlar.  
The Delegated Report specifically refers to the use of: 
 
'natural Bath stone ashlar on the front (north-facing) elevation, with rusticated ashlar at 
ground floor level and plain ashlar above, the sides and rear of the building to be in natural 
sawn Bath stone intended to replicate the stonework on the rear elevation of Chatham 
Row facing the site.' 
 
From this statement it is clear that the Officer believed that the proposed materials were to 
be natural Bath stone and by attaching Condition 3 it is also clear that he continued to 
believe the sample panel on site was also of natural local stone i.e. natural Bath stone. 
 
With regard to the windows, the approved plans refer to the use of bronze finish vertical 
sliding sash windows with no fenestration.  The balcony railing was approved as a 
stainless steel rail with panels of opaque glass running the entire length of the rear 
balcony. 
 

Page 55



11/01989/FUL - On 6 May 2011 a revised application for the erection of four dwellings was 
received seeking to amend the original permission Ref: 08/00591/FUL.  This application 
was refused on 26 July 2011 for reasons of inaccurate drawings and detrimental impact 
on residential amenity. 
 
However the submitted Design and Access Statement states that: 
 
'The elevational treatment remains in Bath Stone ashlar and coursed stone as previously 
approved both on the approved drawings and sample panels on site.' 
 
11/03532/NMA - Following the refusal of application ref: 11/01989/FUL, an NMA was 
approved on 31 August 2011 making some minor amendments to application ref: 
08/00591/FUL.  The minor amendments included the removal of rusticated ashlar walling 
from the scheme and its replacement with 'coursed sawn stone'.  The approved plans 
refer throughout to 'coursed sawn stone'. 
 
The balcony railing was also amended to show the use of a single panel of opaque glass 
under a stainless steel rail.  It continued to run the entire length of the rear balcony. 
 
The approved plans again refer to the use of bronze finish vertical sliding sash windows 
with no fenestration.   
 
Construction of the development then commenced and, following a complaint, an 
Enforcement Officer first visited the site on 17 April 2012, followed up by a letter advising 
the Applicant that natural local stone must be used as per the condition,that the use of 
reconstituted stone is unauthorised and must cease and be removed from the building 
within 21 days. The site was then visited on a number of occasions in the following weeks 
where it was found that the use of reconstituted stone was continuing and the applicant 
was consistently advised against this and that works were being carried out at their own 
risk.  
 
It then became apparent, following another site visit, that the building was being 
constructed of a reconstituted faced Bath stone blocks of 440 x 100 x 215 mm in size 
which also did not match the sample panel.  Furthermore it was discovered the windows 
were not in accordance with the approved plans.  It was therefore found that the 
development did not appear to be being constructed in accordance with the approved 
plans or the conditions attached to planning permission 08/00591/FUL. A letter to the  
applicant dated 15th August 2012 confirmed this and contained a further warning advising 
to stop work and seek retrospective consent.  
 
Despite the Enforcement Team voicing these concerns, both in writing and verbally, the 
development was completed and is now ready for occupation. 
 
The main areas of dispute are: 
 
1. The external walling materials are not in accordance with the approved drawings or 
the sample panel approved on site.  This both in relation to the type of stone used and the 
size of the stone blocks. 
2. The windows are not in accordance with the approved drawings. 

Page 56



3. The balustrade to the rear balcony of the maisonette is not in accordance with the 
approved plans.  
 
External Walling:  It is the case that the development has been constructed using 
reconstituted faced Bath stone with blocks of a 440 x 100 x 215 mm size.   
 
The documents supporting the current application claim that the sample panel on site was 
originally constructed using reconstituted Bath stone and that this was what was seen by 
the Officer and referred to in his letter of 16 May 2008 where he refers to 'plain Bath stone 
ashlar'.  
 
When Officers visited the site in 2012 it was clear that the sample panel on site, at that 
time, and since removed, was constructed of reconstituted Bath stone.  However, as 
explained below, it cannot be confirmed whether this is the same sample panel originally 
approved in 2008.   
 
The application documents also attempt to argue that natural Bath stone ashlar is the 
same as reconstituted stone and therefore the only issue of outstanding dispute is the size 
of the blocks.  Officers do not agree with the statement that natural Bath stone ashlar is 
the same as reconstituted stone as they are two distinctly different materials.  Natural Bath 
stone ashlar is a natural product whereas reconstructed stone is a manufactured product. 
 
Unfortunately it is not possible to confirm whether the same sample panel viewed in 2008 
is the same as that viewed in 2012 or whether a new one has been erected in the 
meantime.  Objectors have asserted that the sample panel was removed for a time and 
then re-erected once development commenced, furthermore it was not recalled as being 
on site when Officers visited to consider planning application 11/01989/FUL. 
 
A photo of the sample panel as viewed in 2008 has been submitted as part of the 
application.  A photo of the sample panel in 2012 was also taken when the Enforcement 
Team visited.  The block size in both photographs appears the same although the blocks 
in the later photo seem to have weathered significantly in the four years since they were 
laid.  Furthermore the blocks have been chipped and the jointing appears quite new.  It 
has been stated by the Applicant that the reason for the chipping and new jointing is that 
the sample panel was inadvertently demolished and rebuilt soon after. 
 
Nevertheless the application does confirm that the size of the blocks used in the 
development is not in accordance with the sample panel on site.  A more traditional sized 
block of 440 x 100 x 294 mm was approved whereas a smaller block size of 440 x 100 x 
215 mm was actually used. The reason given for this is that the supplier was unable to 
provide the approved block size so this was substituted with a smaller commercially sized 
block.   
 
It is clear from the above that the external walling material proposed, and the sample 
panel on site in 2008, has been consistently referred to as being of natural Bath stone.  
This is consistent through the entire pattern of events prior to enforcement visiting the site, 
and throughout the long planning history.  Furthermore at no point has the use of 
reconstituted stone been approved, or referred to, within the submitted documents until 
the site was visited by the Enforcement Officer and the submission of this application.   
 

Page 57



Furthermore Condition 3 of the approved planning permission ref: 08/00591/FUL and the 
letter dated 16 May 2008 from the Senior Planning Officer clearly stated that 'natural local 
stone' and 'Bath stone ashlar' was being approved.  If this was not the case, as this 
current application is clearly asserting, why did the Agent or Applicant not raise this error 
with Officers at the time?  
 
The consistency with which the external walling material has been referred to as natural 
Bath stone throughout leads Officers to conclude that the sample panel was constructed 
of natural Bath stone and that the development has not been constructed in accordance 
with the sample panel under Condition 3 of 08/0591/FUL with regard to both the type of 
stone used and the size of the block.  Of further note is that the sample panel viewed in 
2012 is a reconstituted Bath stone block whereas the material used on the building is a 
reconstituted Bath stone faced block. 
 
Windows:  White painted timber sash windows have been installed with an '8 over 8' 
fenestration in place of the bronze finish windows as approved.  As a result of negotiations 
the application revised plans have been received proposing vertical sliding timber sash 
windows with all fenestration removed.  The French doors on the rear elevation, however, 
are shown to be retained as installed. 
 
Balustrade:  The rear balustrade has been constructed with solid walling extending 1.45m 
from either side and with a clear glass balustrade in between under a stainless steel rail.  
The opening to the car park below has also changed accordingly with the omission of a 
supporting column. 
 
IMPACT OF THE DEVELOPMENT:   
 
As can be appreciated from the planning history above the situation is quite complicated 
but is clear that the development has not been constructed in accordance with the sample 
panel referred to in Condition 3 of 08/0591/FUL.  However the development is now 
complete and this application has to be considered on its merits.  As the overall 
development has already been approved as acceptable under 08/00591/FUL the 
consideration below is confined only to the changes proposed.  In respect of the principle 
of the development changes to Policy, including the NPPF, are not considered to 
undermine the acceptability of the principle of the development on this site. 
 
External Walling:  The development is now completed and the impact of the external 
walling on the character and appearance of the terrace, the setting of the listed buildings 
as well as this part of the Bath Conservation Area and World Heritage Site has to be 
considered. 
 
The external walling has attracted objections and concerns from the Council's 
Conservation Officer, local residents and business as well as Bath Preservation Trust.   
 
It is the professional opinion of the Conservation Officer that the reconstituted stone 
product used is incompatible with the appearance and character derived from a natural 
Bath stone. The standard size of the blocks (300mm) is more akin to concrete block-work 
in appearance, and together with its extremely regular coursing and texture appears 
artificial and out of character with this part of the Conservation Area and World Heritage 

Page 58



Site.  Unfortunately these issues have been compounded due to the poor quality of 
workmanship, resulting in uneven wall surfaces, particularly on the gable ends.  
 
The use of reconstructed stone and smaller more regular sized blocks does not reflect the 
character of the stone used on the majority of the surrounding buildings, some of which 
are listed, which display natural Bath stone facades, identified by generally larger and less 
regular sized ashlar blocks than those used on the development.  They also have a 
warmer colour and softer texture and grain than that of reconstituted stone which has a 
more precise and harder appearance. This has resulted in the development having a very 
poor quality appearance.   
 
The site is within a location at the rear of Walcot Street, which is not prominent and not 
prominent in the majority of views from publicly accessible locations.  The site is located at 
the rear of Walcot Street and views of the site are available down the vehicular access to 
the dwellings but it is not prominent.  This is with the exception of the river where the 
gable is visible and located at an elevated position to the river.   
 
Nevertheless it is considered that the reconstituted stone and block size used is 
incongruous and fails to preserve or enhance the character and appearance of this part of 
the Bath Conservation Area.  Furthermore it is also considered to have an unacceptable 
detrimental impact on the setting of the surrounding listed buildings. In regard to the 
impact on the World Heritage Site it is not considered that the development would harm 
the qualities which justified the inscription of Bath as a World Heritage Site. 
 
It should also be clarified that as this application is retrospective it is easier to assess the 
harm of the development on the surrounding area.  However Officers are also of the view 
that the use of reconstituted stone within this location would also have been considered 
unacceptable, for the same reasons, had this not been the case. 
 
Windows:  The 2009 permission included simple, but high quality, contemporary design 
bronze aluminium windows. The windows inserted in the development are small paned 
double glazed horizontal sliding sashes which are of a manufactured type and of poor 
quality and detail. 
 
However revised plans have been received to change these to remove the small panes.  
This amendment has been welcomed as the current eight-over-eight design is not 
characteristic of Bath and is considered unacceptable.   
 
Therefore whilst the revised scheme still retains the use of a poor quality window, in 
comparison with those approved, they are constructed of white painted timber which is a 
characteristic of Bath.  The French doors retain their fenestration but, on balance, it is 
considered that the installed/proposed windows are not unacceptable and do not have a 
significant detrimental impact on the appearance of the terrace, the setting of the listed 
buildings or fail to preserve or enhance the character and appearance of this part of the 
Bath Conservation Area or World Heritage Site. 
 
Balustrade:  The changes to the balustrade are relatively minor and are considered to be 
acceptable as they do not have an unacceptable impact on the appearance of the terrace, 
the setting of the listed buildings or this part of the Bath Conservation Area or World 
Heritage Site. 

Page 59



 
IMPACT ON RESIDENTIAL AMENITY: 
 
An objection has been received from a neighbouring resident that the development has 
caused overlooking.  However the issue of overlooking, and the impact on residential 
amenity, was considered in full as part of the 08/00591/FUL application.  Some minor 
changes to windows were also approved under the 11/03532/NMA which were also found 
to be acceptable. 
 
IMPACT ON HIGHWAY SAFETY:   
 
The revised application does not propose any changes to the development that would 
have an impact on highway safety.  In light of this the Highways Development Officer is 
satisfied that there is unlikely to be an increase in traffic movements from the proposed 
development.  
 
The previous permission, 08/00591/FUL identified an issue in respect of visibility from the 
vehicular access, and the potential conflict with pedestrians on Walcot Street. Therefore a 
S106 agreement was secured for the installation of bollards in the pavement and 
contributions towards the introduction of a 20mph speed limit on Walcot Street. This 
contribution has already been paid, the limit installed and the bollards also installed so, 
even if approval was being recommended, a S106 agreement in this respect is no longer 
required as part of this application. 
 
ECOLOGY:   
 
The revised application essential relates to changes to the elevations and do not affect 
any nature conservation or ecology aspects on the site. 
 
RIVERSIDE WALK: 
 
The Council has a long-standing objective of forming a public Riverside Walk along the 
west side of the River Avon, extending northwards from the city centre. As part of this, the 
earlier scheme 08/00591/FUL was linked to a Section 106 Agreement which required that 
a strip of land adjacent to the river was to be made over to the Council to enable a section 
of the Riverside Walk to be formed at the rear of this site. To safeguard the provision of 
the Riverside Walk this would need to be linked to a Section 106 agreement requiring the 
making over of the section of riverbank to form the Walk, however as the application is 
being recommended for refusal this is not necessary at this time.   
 
FLOODING:   
 
Part of the site is within Flood Zone 2 and 3 due to its location directly adjacent to the 
River Avon.  The issue of flooding was considered fully as part of the previous permission 
08/00591/FUL.  The Environment Agency has raised no objection to the development 
provided that appropriate conditions are attached which is considered appropriate in this 
case. 
 
EDUCATION SERVICES:  The Education Services Department has requested a total 
contribution of £18,876.74, for school places and youth services.  Whilst a contribution for 

Page 60



education services was not required under application 08/00591/FUL the amendments to 
the scheme have required the submission of a new application for planning permission 
which has to be considered on its merits.   
 
At the time the 08/00591/FUL application was permitted Education Services would have 
assessed whether a contribution was required, however at that time it would have been 
projected that there would be spare capacity within the local schools to accommodate any 
children from this development meaning a contribution was unnecessary.  Since that time 
there has been, and continues to be, population growth and both the existing, and 
projected, spare capacity within local schools has gradually reduced.  Therefore, this 
revised development will put pressure on places in the local schools for which there is little 
or no capacity and a contribution is therefore required.   
 
However as the application is being recommended for refusal a legal agreement is not 
required at this time. 
 
OTHER ISSUES:  Bath Preservation Trust have raised concerns that Conditions 10, 11 
and 13 of 05/04017/FUL.  However it appears that the development has been constructed 
under application No 08/00591/FUL which did not include these conditions. 
 
CONCLUSION: 
 
This application for planning permission has been submitted due to concerns raised by the 
Enforcement Team that the development has not been constructed in accordance with the 
approved plans or the attached conditions. 
 
The main areas of dispute are: 
 
1. The external walling materials are not in accordance with the approved drawings or 
the sample panel approved on site. 
2. The windows are not in accordance with the approved drawings. 
3. The balustrade to the rear balcony of the maisonette is not in accordance with the 
approved plans.  
 
With regard to the external walling materials the issues surrounding this are complicated 
and are explained in full above.  However it has been concluded that the development has 
not been constructed in accordance with the sample panel under Condition 3 of 
08/0591/FUL with regard to the type of stone and size of the block used. 
 
It is considered that the reconstituted stone and block size used is out of character with 
the area and has an incongruous appearance which fails to preserve or enhance the 
character and appearance of this part of the Bath Conservation Area.  Furthermore it is 
also considered to have an unacceptable detrimental impact on the setting of the 
surrounding listed buildings.  In regard to the impact on the World Heritage Site it is not 
considered that the development would harm the qualities which justified the inscription of 
Bath as a World Heritage Site.   
 
Through negotiation revised plans have been received to remove the fenestration to the 
windows, although it has been retained on the French doors.  Whilst the revised plans 
have been welcomed the windows remain of a poor quality but, on balance, it is 

Page 61



considered that the installed/proposed windows are not unacceptable and do not have a 
significant detrimental impact on the appearance of the terrace, the setting of the listed 
buildings or this part of the Bath Conservation Area or World Heritage Site to justify refusal 
on this point. 
 
The changes to the balustrade are considered to be minor and do not have an 
unacceptable impact on the appearance of the terrace, the setting of the listed buildings or 
this part of the Bath Conservation Area or World Heritage Site. 
 
The impact of the development on the residential amenity of neighbouring occupiers was 
fully considered under the previous planning permission 08/00591/FUL.  The proposed 
development is not considered to have any further detrimental impact over and above that 
which is already being experienced by the previously approved scheme and any 
subsequent amendments. 
 
Finally the development would not have any increased impact on highway safety than the 
previously approved scheme. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

 
 
REASON(S) FOR REFUSAL 
 
 1 The development, due to the use of reconstituted Bath stone and block size, is out of 
character with the surrounding area and has an incongruous appearance which fails to 
preserve or enhance the character and appearance of this part of the Bath Conservation 
Area.  The development would also have a harmful impact on the setting of the 
surrounding listed buildings.  This is contrary to Policy D2, BH2 and BH6 of the Bath & 
North East Somerset Local Plan including minerals & waste policies adopted 2007. 
 
PLANS LIST: 
  
 
The application relates to drawing nos 875.location, PL 13, PL 14, PL 15 Rev C, PL 16 
Rev C, 876.block, 876/10/1 Rev A, 876/10.02. 
 
 
Decision Taking Statement 
In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied with 
the aims of paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Framework. The submitted 
application has been found to be unacceptable for the stated reasons and the applicant 
was advised that the application was to be recommended for refusal. Despite this the 
applicant chose not to withdraw the application and having regard to the need to avoid 
unnecessary delay the Local Planning Authority moved forward and issued its decision. In 
considering whether to prepare a further application the applicant's attention is drawn to 
the original discussion/negotiation. 
 
 
 

Page 62



Item No:   2 

Application No: 12/05579/FUL 

Site Location: Charmydown Lodge Charmydown Lane Swainswick Bath BA1 8AB 

 
 

Ward: Bathavon North  Parish: St. Catherine  LB Grade:  

Ward Members: Councillor M Veal Councillor Gabriel Batt Councillor Geoff Ward
  

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Conversion of Charmydown Barn to a 5no. bed dwelling, alteration 
and reinstatement of Charmydown Lodge to a 3no. bed dwelling, 
retention of new detached garage block, minor works to the walls of 
the former pigsties and associated soft and hard landscaping 
following demolition of modern barns, stables and lean-to (revisions to 
permitted scheme 08/04768/FUL and 08/04769/LBA). 

Page 63



Constraints: Agric Land Class 1,2,3a, Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, 
Greenbelt, Public Right of Way, Water Source Areas,  

Applicant:  Dormie Holdings Ltd. 

Expiry Date:  18th February 2013 

Case Officer: Rebecca Roberts 

 
REPORT 
REASON FOR REPORTING APPLICATION TO COMMITTEE:  
The application has returned to re-apply for the development as the works were not 
carried out in accordance with the approved scheme and as it was previously dealt with by 
committee due to its sensitive nature the Chair has agreed for this application to be 
considered by the Committee. 
 
DESCRIPTION OF SITE AND APPLICATION: 
The former Charmydown Farm stands in open countryside to the north of Swainswick 
village within the Green Belt and Cotswolds Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty.  
 
The Farmhouse is grade II listed in recognition of its special architectural and historic 
interest in February 1884. The associated barn and pair of semi detached structures 
formerly known as Charmydown Lodge previously formed part of the farm complex, the 
farmhouse was sold off separately and the agricultural use lost. One of the considerations 
in this case is whether the barn and the structures formerly known as Charmydown Lodge 
are curtilage listed.  
 
The Farmhouse and the barn/structures formerly known as Charmydown Lodge have a 
historic and aesthetic connection that amplifies the experience of the significance of each 
and would be considered to be within one another's setting, an element that is not 
unexpected within a group of buildings. The farm comprises a large stone built barn 
(intended to be converted) which is located at the heart of the site surrounded by a 
number of modern agricultural buildings (steel framed), which are in a derelict (partially 
collapsed/unsafe) condition. To the north east of the barn lie the old piggeries, where the 
nine circular pillars that supported the lean to structure partially remain. The former lodge 
structures referred to in the application description stand separately away from these 
buildings approximately 35 metres north of Charmydown Farmhouse. In terms of their 
physical layout, it is considered that the barn and former Lodge structures are closely 
associated with the Farmhouse.  
 
The stone barn is a large structure which has been developed incrementally over the 
years, the earliest part probably dating from the 18th century and evidence suggests that 
the long barn and cross barn were once separate buildings. Overall it is approximately 47 
metres long and 6.5 metres wide, and comprises a long unbroken section running east-
west over the site with a later section built at 90 degrees to this at the eastern end to form 
a `T' shaped layout. The principal facade overlooks the lower yard and out over the 
Chilcombe Bottom. Built of coursed rubble stone with freestone quoins and a clay tiled 
roof on the cross barn, the tiles on the long barn have been replaced by black corrugated 
metal sheeting. Externally the barn appears to be well maintained and in good structural 
order. 
 

Page 64



The structures formerly known as Charmydown Lodge were originally a pair of stone built 
semi-detached structures constructed for residential use, identical in design, offering a 
symmetrical principal facade on the southern elevation, and built of coursed rubble stone 
with freestone dressings and ashlar surrounds to the windows and doors.  
 
The former Lodge structures have been vacant for a period of time and left roofless and 
exposed. The overgrown vegetation resulted in the partial collapse of the rear wall. 
However a structural engineers report submitted as part of the 08/04768/FUL stated that 
the former Lodge structures were structurally sound and could be restored to a habitable 
condition without major rebuilding, however in 2012 the rear elevation, single storey side 
projection, north east elevation and part of the south west elevation were demolished. 
What's left of the former Charmydown lodge is not considered a building but a ruin. 
 
The application proposes to convert the barn into a five bedroom single dwelling, re-
instate the old piggeries to form an ancillary outbuilding to the barn, to retain the single 
storey garage and to re-instate/re-build the former Charmydown Lodge structure to form a 
single dwelling. 
 
The barn would be converted primarily using existing window openings but with a number 
of new openings formed to accommodate the internal subdivision of the building. Solid oak 
timber frames will be used for the windows and doors, the three large openings on the 
south elevation will be glazed, in addition the doors on the eastern elevation will be 
replaced by a full height oak framed glazed opening, oak shutters and cladding to the 
plant room are proposed, and once oxidised will help soften the appearance of the 
building but also provide a strong rural link with the built and natural environment.  
 
Externally the barn would have a large curtilage occupying the former farmyard. Most of 
the remaining buildings will be demolished but the old piggeries to the north east of the 
barn will be reinstated to form a lean to single storey outbuilding proposed as a studio and 
plant room, these will be joined by a timber pergola that will allow climbing plants to 
intertwine within the structure to create a green roof. The green roof will extend the garden 
level around the side of the building splitting the elevation but will also screen the retaining 
wall. This will allow the natural boundary hedging to extend around the site encouraging 
wildlife into the site. To the south of this an open air swimming pool is proposed, the 08 
application proposed that the pool would be constructed in the lower level area close the 
boundary in place of the dilapidated stables block due to be demolished it is now 
proposed to shift the swimming pool to the upper terrace adjacent to the old piggeries 
structure. The area below will be formally landscaped as a studio garden. 
 
A new single storey garage, designed on the basis of a traditional wagon shed has 
already been constructed as approved in the 08 application. It is situated on the upper 
yard on the northern side of the barn, this was constructed as it formed part of the ecology 
mitigation. The existing access and upper yard area would become the driveway and 
parking area for the barn. The lower yard would be landscaped to form the main garden.  
 
The former Lodge structures are proposed to be re-built to the scale, designs and 
proportions approved under the 08/04768/FUL application to form a three bed single 
dwelling with pitched roof and small rear extension to accommodate the staircase. A 
hardstanding to the south west of the building off the existing track is proposed as parking 
with the bulk of the curtilage located to the west of the former Lodge structures. 

Page 65



 
Two public rights of way run through the site, one to the north of the former Lodge 
structures and the other runs between the buildings towards the southern boundary of the 
site. The development will not block the rights of way which will preserve the ease of 
movement through the site.  
 
The application has been supported by the submission of a design and access statement, 
business statement, archaeological assessment, arboricultural statement, structural 
engineers report, ecological impact/mitigation assessments and a historical assessment 
which provides a foundation for evaluation of the development. Understanding the 
significance of a heritage asset will enable the contribution made by its setting to be 
understood. 
 
SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS/REPRESENTATIONS 
HIGHWAYS: 
No. The site is at the end of an access track of some 2 kilometre length which for the most 
part is single carriageway with passing places. Whilst most passing places are intervisible 
on the lower part, those on the plateau one generally not. 
 
The site is therefore very remote from services and facilities where the car will feature as 
the major mode of travel. New development will therefore not be in accord with the key 
objectives of policy ET.9 and would normally attract a recommendation of refusal. 
However, in highway terms, this application is similar to that permitted by way of 
application 08/04768/FUL which was granted 23rd December 2010 and has been 
commenced. 
 
ARBORICULTURAL OFFICER: 
The submitted Tree Protection Plan now shows a new access road to the north ( between 
T89 and T90 etc ) which is beyond the red line boundary of the original planning 
application ( 08/04768/FUL ). The submissions do not include the extent of this new 
access or construction methods or whether any further trees are implicated in the 
proposal. 
 
The Arboricultural Report has not been revised to address any changes such as the new 
access road or rebuilding of the demolished walls. The swimming pool appears to have 
been relocated closer to the canopy of T66 ( mature Beech )resulting in the likelihood of 
increased debris dropping into it. 
 
WESSEX WATER: 
Objection. Access road has deteriorated since construction commenced and applicant is 
not willing to repair roads. Access across agricultural land is across Wessex water land 
and no permission has been granted to cross this land. 
 
PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY: 
Public footpaths BA21/9, BA21/11, BA2/12 and BA2/11 cross the site. The development 
must not 
obstruct or alter the line or width of any of the footpaths. 
 
 
 

Page 66



ECOLOGY: 
Updated ecological and protected species surveys have been submitted, which are 
comprehensive in addressing key ecological issues such as protection of bats and 
mitigation for impacts on roosts; mitigation for birds including barn owl; protection of 
reptiles.  The main barn still supports roosts for pipistrelle and lesser horseshoe bats.  
Some of the mitigation approved under the previous planning consent has already been 
implemented. 
 
A European Protected Species licence will be required for this proposal and the LPA must 
consider the 'three tests' of the habitats regulations. I would consider that, provided 
mitigation continues to be implemented in accordance with the proposed mitigation plans, 
the 'third test' of the habitats regulations would be met and there would be no harm to the 
conservation status of the affected species. Implementation of all mitigation must as for 
the previous consent be secured by condition as appropriate. 
 
The Arboricultural report has not been updated to take account of changes to the plans. 
This is an area of concern and needs to be addressed for ecology also, as changes for 
example to retained trees could impact on bats, owls and other ecology. 
 
BATS AND THE HABITATS DIRECTIVE:  Bat roosts had been found in the main barn 
and in Charmydown Lodge. The site is also in use generally by bats as an area for 
feeding, foraging and commuting. 
  
Bats are protected by European law which means that the Council, in its function as the 
local planning authority, must have regard to the requirements of the Habitats Directive 
when considering whether to grant planning permission and listed building consent. If the 
development would involve the deterioration or destruction of a breeding site or resting 
place for bats, or would cause deliberate disturbance to bats, then Article 12 of the 
Directive will be engaged and permission must not be granted unless the Committee is 
satisfied that the derogation tests under Article 16 are met.  
  
With regard to the use of the whole site by bats generally for foraging, feeding and 
commuting, a number of mitigation measures are proposed to ensure that no disturbance 
is caused. These include a sensitive lighting scheme and retention of existing trees and 
shrubs where possible. Subject to these mitigation features being secured by condition, it 
is considered that there will be no disturbance to bats within the meaning of Article 12b) of 
the Directive. 
 
The bat roosts in Charmydown Lodge were removed/destroyed under the Bat License 
issued by Natural England.  
  
The main issue is the effect of the development on the bat roosts situated in the main 
barn. The approved proposal had been amended and involved the installation of a ceiling 
to close off an area of roof space in the main barn, effectively boxing in the roosts. This 
will mean changing the access points to the roost. The applicant has provided an 
alternative roost above the garage and new bat boxes were erected on trees within this 
locality. 
 
Whilst the roosts in the main barn would not be destroyed, the Council's ecologist is of the 
view that the boxing in would lead to a deterioration in quality because at present the bats 

Page 67



have use of the whole of the barn and that aspect of the roost's functionality will be lost if 
the roost is boxed in and the barn developed. Furthermore, officers consider that changing 
the access points to the roost also represents deterioration in the quality of the roost as 
bats do not always adapt easily to a new access. Officers are therefore of the view that 
Article 12d) of the Directive (deterioration of breeding sites or resting places) is engaged 
which means that permission/consent must not be granted unless the Council is satisfied 
that the derogation tests under Article 16 are met. 
 
In summary there are three derogation tests which must be assessed against the 
particular scheme and its impacts on the conservation status of the bats. All three tests 
must be met before permission/consent can be granted. 
  
The first test is that there is no satisfactory alternative. The current guidance issued by the 
European Commission states that this should be approached in three parts: what is the 
specific problem which needs to be addressed? Are there any other solutions? If so, will 
these resolve the specific problem for which the derogation is sought? In this case it is 
considered that the 'problem' is that barn is unused and unoccupied. It would be difficult to 
argue that a satisfactory alternative is that the barn should be left to decay; therefore it 
follows that the building should be brought back into use. Based on evidence submitted by 
the applicants, officers are satisfied that an agricultural or office use would not be viable 
and that a residential use is the only viable option. In terms of the works to be carried out 
to enable the barn to be residentially occupied, officers did not accept that there was no 
satisfactory alternative to destroying the roost as originally proposed. The applicants have 
therefore proposed the alternative 'boxing in' solution which officers consider will preserve 
the ecological functionality of the roost (albeit with some deterioration in quality) whilst 
allowing the barn to be restored to beneficial use. There is no alternative to the boxing in 
solution. Officers therefore consider that this test is met. 
  
The second test is that there will be no detriment to the maintenance of the populations of 
the species concerned at a favourable conservation status in their natural range. The 
Council's ecologist is of the view that boxing in the roost in the main barn together with the 
provision of a roost in the garage roof will ensure that favourable conservation status will 
be maintained and therefore this test is met. 
 
The third test is that there are imperative reasons of overriding public interest for allowing 
the derogation.  The European Commission guidance emphasises the overriding 
character of the public interest and suggests that in most cases this will be a long term 
interest. Such judgments must be made on a case by case basis. In this case it is 
considered that leaving the barn vacant and decaying is harmful to the public interest - it is 
a very large building and is part of a substantial group of buildings located in a prominent 
position in the landscape. Furthermore, the barn is of considerable historic interest. As 
stated in the accompanying listed building report, the barn is curtilage listed and is also a 
heritage asset of some significance in its own right. The barn also contributes to the 
setting of the listed farmhouse. For all of these reasons it is considered that there is an 
overriding public interest in it being brought back into beneficial use. Accordingly it is 
considered that this test is met. 
  
In conclusion, officers consider that the derogation tests are met with regard to the main 
barn and, subject to the mitigation being secured by condition. It is therefore considered 

Page 68



that the requirements of the Habitats Directive are met in this case and the development 
complies with policies NE.11 and NE.12. 
 
OTHER REPRESENTATIONS / THIRD PARTIES: 
3x objections from local residents 
The large set of documents submitted do not make clear the number of amendments and 
additions to the original plans and serves only to confuse and distract any third party from 
trying to make sense of it. 
 
Documents conceal some fundamental changes such as the introduction of a new 
proposed access road, which oddly appears in the Tree protection Plan. Eating into yet 
more Green belt and crossing footpaths, this is significant yet cannot see any mention in 
the main body of the application. 
 
Object to the development of the farm workers cottages, they have been uninhabited 
since at least 1946 and were in a derelict and ruinous state. The fact that builders have 
removed all but one and half external walls underlines that the building was not substantial 
enough to convert. Erroneous to suggest that the cottages have suddenly changed in the 
last 2yrs, the state of the cottages has barely changed in the 8 years I have lived here. 
 
Considered the lodge building structurally unsound at time of original application. Amounts 
to a new dwelling in the Green Belt. Have done multiple works that do not accord with the 
planning permission, removed towers of the barn by the proposed swimming pool. The 
cottages have been deteriorating for over 70 years and not in recent years as Mr 
Sutcliffe's report states.  
 
New access across green belt land is shown on the tree protection plan but not mentioned 
elsewhere in the application. With all the documentation submitted it is unclear as to what 
is being amended/new. 
 
POLICIES/LEGISLATION 
RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY:    
02/00963/FUL - Conversion of barn and cottages to two dwellings and garage, plus 
formation of access and passing bays. PERMITTED. August 2002 (Expired August 2007). 
 
08/04768/FUL - Conversion and enlargement of barns to create new dwelling and garage, 
and refurbishment and alteration of cottages to create new dwelling with associated soft 
and hard landscaping, following demolition of existing modern barns, stables and double 
storey lean-to. PERMITTED. Dec 2010 
 
08/04769/LBA - Conversion and enlargement of barns to create new dwelling and garage, 
and refurbishment and alteration of cottages to create new dwelling with associated soft 
and hard landscaping, following demolition of existing modern barns, stables and double 
storey lean-to. CONSENT. Dec 2010 
 
POLICY CONTEXT:  
 
NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK: 
 

Page 69



Section 9 - states that inappropriate development is, by definition harmful to the Green 
Belt and should not be approved except in very special circumstances. 
 
PPS 5: PANNING FOR THE HISTORIC ENVIRNMENT: GUIDANCE NOTE 
 
Section 79 of the PPS5 practice guide states  
`There are a number of potential heritage benefits that could weigh in favour of a 
proposed scheme: 
1. It sustains or enhances the significance of a heritage asset and the contribution of its 
setting. 
2. It reduces or removes risks to a heritage asset 
3. It secures the optimum viable use of a heritage asset in support of its long term 
conservation. 
4. It makes a positive contribution to economic vitality and sustainable communities. 
5. It is an appropriate design for its context and makes a positive contribution to the 
appearance, character, quality and local distinctiveness of the historic environment. 
6. It better reveals the significance of a heritage asset and therefore enhances our 
enjoyment of it and the sense of place'. 
 
BATH LOCAL PLAN (adopted 2007) 
D.2 - General Design and public realm considerations 
D.4 - Townscape considerations 
ET.9 - Re-use of rural buildings 
GB.1 - Control of development in the Green Belt 
GB.2 - Visual amenities of the Green Belt 
NE.1 - Landscape character 
NE.2 - Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
NE.9 - Locally Important Sites 
NE.10 - Nationally Protected Species and Habitats 
NE.11 - Locally important species and habitats 
NE.12 - Natural features: retention, new provision and management 
BH.2 - Listed buildings and their settings 
T.24 - General development control and access policy 
T.26 - On site parking and servicing provision  
 
CORE STRATEGY: 
At its meeting on 4th March 2013 the Council approved the amended Core Strategy for 
Development Management purposes. Whilst it is not yet part of the statutory Development 
Plan the Council attaches substantive weight to the amended Core Strategy in the 
determination of planning applications in accordance with the considerations outlined in 
paragraph 216 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
 
OFFICER ASSESSMENT 
PRINCIPLE OF PROPOSED USE: The principle of a residential use has previously been 
approved in the 02/00963/FUL application and more recently under the 08/04768/FUL 
approval. However a new application was requested as one of the buildings proposed to 
be converted was significantly demolished and as confirmed in Hadfield v SOS 19/6/1996 
in this instance planning permission is lost and a fresh permission is needed.  
 

Page 70



GREEN BELT OR OTHER PLANNING POLICY CONSIDERATIONS:   
The structures formerly known as Charmydown Lodge had not been lived in and no 
practical steps taken by previous owners to restore the building it had become a roofless 
shell. At the time of the 2008 application Officers considered whether the residential use 
had been abandoned and considered the assessment of abandonment  
1) The physical condition of the building - The former Lodge structures show no sign 
internally of residential use and have been gutted out, the roof has collapsed leaving the 
shell of the building. 
2) The length of time for which the building had not been used - no clear evidence has 
been provided as to how long the former Lodge structures have been vacant however 
from determining the dates of ownership it is more than a decade;  
3) Whether it had been used for any other purposes - comments from neighbours suggest 
that the former Lodge structures were used for storing agricultural equipment, feed and 
livestock; and  
4) The owner's intentions - in the past there has been no evidence of any intention to 
resume/continue the residential use, as evidenced by the casual use for storage  
 
These criteria are of equal relevance and are to be tested by considering whether a 
reasonable man with knowledge of all the circumstances would conclude that the use had 
been abandoned. In the case of Hughes, the Court of Appeal held that the test was an 
objective one and, accordingly, it was wrong to regard the wishes and intentions of the 
owner as the determinative factor.  
 
There is no policy within the adopted local plan that refers to the issue of abandonment. 
 
On balance it was considered that the residential use had been abandoned. The former 
Lodge structures effectively had a 'nil' use and were deemed a rural building in the same 
respects as the long barn, stables and hay barn. Because the former Charmydown Lodge 
structures were not considered to be a dwelling, policies HG.14 and HG.15 which refer to 
the extension or replacement of dwellings within the Green Belt, could and will not be 
considered and the former Lodge structures were instead considered under the same 
policies as the barn: GB.1, GB.2 and ET.9. However the demolition of over half the 
building means the existing is more of a ruin than a building; the proposed re-
construction/re-instatement would therefore be tantamount to a new dwelling in the Green 
Belt which is inappropriate development and by definition harmful to the Green Belt. The 
re-instatement of the former Charmydown Lodge does not fall within policy GB.1 or ET.9. 
 
Policy GB.1 sets out the types of development which are acceptable within the Green Belt 
and are therefore not `inappropriate development' in Green Belt terms. One such form of 
'appropriate' development is the re-use of existing buildings, which makes allowance for 
conversions falling within policy ET9. The barn as previously considered within the 
08/04768/FUL application which involves conversion, is considered to fall within the remit 
of policy ET.9. 
 
Policy ET9 states that proposals for the conversions of a building to a dwelling are not to 
be permitted if the building is in a position isolated from public services and community 
facilities, and unrelated to an existing group of buildings. This policy also states that within 
the Green Belt, a proposed conversion will not be approved if the proposed use would 
have a materially greater impact on the Green Belt than the present use. The policy also 
requires that any building to be converted shall be in keeping with its surroundings and 

Page 71



that any building is itself of substantial construction and can be converted without major 
reconstruction or extension.  
 
The barn is within an isolated location, which is a common characteristic of farms to be 
partially isolated from urban areas. Although isolated, the barn is considered to have an 
aesthetic and historic link to Charmydown Farmhouse as a rural building which once 
formed part of the Farm complex/enterprise. The former Charmydown Lodge structures 
were previously considered to have a link as they were occupied by agricultural workers 
however this use has been abandoned and a significant amount of the building 
demolished which has seen the aesthetic link lost. A surveys report was submitted 
previously an updated report submitted to support the conversion of the barn which states 
that there may be the need of some repair and rebuild to part of the north elevation 
however this is limited when assessing the building as a whole. Therefore, the barn is an 
existing but vacant rural building, and can be converted without substantial or complete 
reconstruction, the proposed development is considered to comply with section 3 of policy 
ET.9. 
 
A structural engineers report submitted at the time of the 08/04768/FUL application stated 
that both buildings were structurally sound and could be restored to a habitable condition 
without major rebuilding. This was supported by the Council's Building Control Surveyor 
who has confirmed that he is in agreement with this report. The report suggested that 
cracks within the Former Lodge elevations were cosmetic and could be repaired without 
the need to demolish and re-build. The agent was requested to confirm this on numerous 
occasions and advised that if any building had to be re-built, it was tantamount to a new 
dwelling in the Green Belt and would in principle not be supported. However the agents 
now argues that in the 2 years since the permission the level of decay was significant 
enough to warrant demolition as the building was unsafe, this was done without any prior 
discussions with or notifications to the Local Planning Authority 
 
The agent has submitted a structural engineer's report which outlines a timeline of the 
steps taken during the works. Firstly it is noted that the surveyor considers that the 
building was essentially unprotected to the elements and susceptible to freeze/thaw and 
further vegetation growth which resulted in the weakening of areas of the building. The 
report notes that concern was raised in October 2011 and work commenced in May 2012 
during this time and even prior to this (during/after permission was granted) the applicant 
had every opportunity to secure the building but chose not to, furthermore the building 
could have been enclosed in a temporary structure which gave protection to further 
weathering (such structures have been previously erected around the Theatre Royal 
during its renovation and more recently at the Gainsborough building) but again the 
applicant chose not to do as therefore took a risk in leaving the building in its redundant 
state.  
 
A historical statement which endeavours to convince the LPA that the Former 
Charmydown Lodge building should be reinstated because it is a heritage asset and of 
historical importance in the setting of the Charmydown Farm complex has been submitted 
to support the proposal. The Conservation officer has stated that a great deal of heritage 
significance had been lost as a result of poor maintenance and has been further lost as a 
result of the demolition works and that the reinstatement of the Former Lodge will make a 
limited contribution to the Farmstead, therefore the heritage value of reinstating the former 
lodge building or the argument that a pair of cottages once existed on the site are not 

Page 72



considered to demonstrate very special circumstances that outweigh the harm to the 
Green Belt. Therefore the proposed development of the Former Charmydown Lodge is 
considered inappropriate development in the Green Belt which fails to preserve the local 
distinctiveness of the AONB. 
 
Section 5 of ET.9 states that residential conversion will not be permitted unless the 
applicant has made every reasonable attempt to secure suitable business re-use. The 
applicant provided a basic business statement as part of the 08/04768/FUL which stated 
that the site had not be marketed for another use, this was due to the site being 
purchased with planning permission for residential use, but never implemented and that 
continual heavy traffic movement up and down this drive would be very detrimental to its 
survival. In addition a budget cost plan was submitted. The report included an assessment 
by Carter Jonas (property firm) that assessed the site and possible business use. The 
report concluded by stating that they did not consider there was any prospect, either now, 
in the past two decades, or in the foreseeable future, of any commercial development 
being justified at this site. The cost of refurbishing existing buildings would, undoubtedly, 
exceed any realistic commercial value of the finished development. It is therefore 
considered that this part of policy ET.9 has been satisfied in terms of the Barn Conversion. 
 
The scheme involves not only the conversion of the Barn and re-instatement of the 
Former Cottages but proposes reinstating numerous features that the site survey and 
historic assessment have unearthed. This includes the reinstatement of the front steps to 
the long barn, the old piggeries and opening into an underground storage area between 
the barn and the old piggeries. The room will be accessed from a glazed doorway 
between the cross barn and the old piggeries, oak shutters are also proposed, this part of 
the building is built into the hillside and will not increase the existing massing of the barn 
and associated buildings, therefore it is not considered to have a materially greater impact 
than the existing structures in accordance with ET.9, GB.1 and GB.2. The concrete on the 
upper yard above will be removed and a green roof utilised with a lantern window.  
 
The bulk of the old piggeries building has eroded away but evidence is still visible of its 
structure, in particular the supporting stone columns that would have held the roof against 
the rear retaining wall, this reinstatement was also proposed within the 02/00963/FUL, 
however it was proposed as an open unit. The old piggeries formed one of the key 
buildings within the original farm complex and its reinstatement is considered to enhance 
the historic conservation of the site whilst preserving the rural character of the Green Belt 
and AONB. The proposed reinstatement works would not increase the existing footprint of 
the site and are therefore considered to represent a proportionate addition to the barn, 
which preserves the openness and visual amenity of the Green Belt within this locality and 
is therefore not considered to conflict with policy GB.1, GB.2 and ET.9 of the local plan. 
The stones that made up the columns which formed the piggeries have unlike the former 
cottages been carefully dismantled and rearranged in order within the cross barn to 
protect them whilst the upper terrace is cleared and the rear wall and side walls repaired, 
the columns will then be re-built in accordance with the 2008 approval. 
 
The new garage approved in the 2008 application is proposed to be retained; this was 
built prior to other works as it formed part of the ecology mitigation measures. On balance 
the garage was considered to represent a proportionate addition that did not result in a 
materially greater impact to the openness of the Green Belt.  The garage/carport has been 
constructed to the rear of the Long Barn in order to be screened from view from the valley 

Page 73



below. The garage plays an important role in providing alternative bat and owls' roosts 
within the roof space and has been designed so as to appear as a converted outbuilding 
which utilised materials to match the barn. 
 
The proposed conversion of the barn, retention of the garage and reinstatement of the 
piggeries and swimming pool will operate ancillary to the use of the barn and have been 
designed so as to cause minimal disruption to the openness and visual amenity that is 
currently evident through careful siting and design and are considered to represent an 
appropriate form of development within the Green Belt that does not materially harm the 
openness of the surrounding Green Belt in accordance with Policies GB.1, GB.2, NE.2 
and ET.9. This part of the proposal creates a well-balanced design that respects the rural 
character whilst maintaining the harmonious environment in this locality, but also 
enhances the local distinctiveness that is a key element within the AONB. 
 
The reinstatement of the structures formally known as Charmydown Lodge are proposed 
to be used ancillary to the barn, a Unilateral Undertaking (legal agreement) has been 
drawn up which restricts the former Lodge structures to be ancillary as they are 
considered to be independent structures which can be described as having its own setting 
away from the barn, this legal agreement will form part of the application. As considered 
previously the demolition of a significant part of the lodge building meant the previous 
planning permission was lost, the previous consideration of a conversion was on balance 
considered appropriate however the new proposal to re-instate the building (rebuild 2 and 
half elevations and single storey projection) would involve significant works which is 
tantamount to a new dwelling in the Green Belt which is inappropriate development and 
no special circumstances have been demonstrated that outweigh the harm to the Green 
Belt contrary to policy GB.1. 
 
A split decision cannot be made on a Planning Permission application, if any element of a 
proposal is considered inappropriate which in this case it is the proposal must be 
recommended for refusal. Prior to the submission and during the consideration of this 
revised proposal the agent was advised to submitted separate applications which could 
have seen works on the conversion of the barn continue. 
 
LISTED BUILDING/CONSERVATION AREA:  These have been assessed in full in the 
listed building committee report. 
 
RESIDENTIAL AMENITY:  On balance, due to the distance between the sites, orientation 
and landscaping along the boundaries it is not considered that the proposed development 
would cause a significant amount of overlooking that would lead to a loss of privacy.  
 
With regards to noise, the proposed would cause increased level of noise during 
construction but this is not unaccepted with any level of development, informatives would 
be attached to any permission with regards to codes for construction which should be 
adhered to. The noise levels associated with a residential use are not considered to be 
higher than the noise levels that could arise from an agricultural use (working farm). 
 
PLANNING OFFICER ASSESSMENT OF HIGHWAY ISSUES:  ET9 states that proposals 
for the conversions of a building to a dwelling are not to be permitted if the building is in a 
position isolated from public services and community facilities, and unrelated to an 
existing group of buildings. It is important to note that whilst the buildings could be 

Page 74



regarded as being located in an isolated position away from public services and 
community facilities to conflict with Policy ET.9 the buildings must also be unrelated to an 
existing group of buildings. The proposed building is within an isolated location, which is a 
similar position to other farms within the local area, it is a character of farms to be partially 
isolated from urban areas, although isolated the barn and former Lodge structures are 
regarded to form a group of buildings along with the Farmhouse, which would have 
formed the Charmydown Farm complex. The existing boundary treatments of hedging and 
natural stone walling will be maintained along the boundary and the existing access will 
remain, the plans illustrate that amble space is available for parking and turning on site. 
 
Concern has been raised regarding a new access track running to the north of the site 
which is annotated on the landscape plan. This was a temporary access to the site for 
larger vehicles to use due to the current state and width of the road restricted certain 
vehicles. Once the development had been completed the temporary surface would have 
been removed and the land re-instated. It does not form part of the application as it lies 
outside of the application site. 
 
LANDSCAPE:  The areas surrounding the whole barn and to the front of the former 
Charmydown Lodge are all concrete, where insufficient drainage is provided. The 
application proposes to remove this concrete. The lower yard area and part of the upper 
yard will be landscaped (soft) a large part to lawn, a landscape plan has previously been 
approved and has been submitted as part of this application. The upper yard and existing 
access will be covered by a permeable surface so as to avoid standing water and to allow 
for the natural drainage of water. The proposed will therefore be an improvement in terms 
of water drainage and surface water run-off. 
 
SUSTAINABILITY AND RENEWABLE ENERGY:  Some renewable schemes have been 
considered in discussion between the Local Authority and agents with regards to solar 
panels and ground source heat pumps; however nothing has been confirmed and included 
within the drawings. Concern was raised with regards to the use of solar panels on the 
Barn however the garage roof slope could accommodate panels. The ground source heat 
pump would be more appropriate. 
 
REFUSE COLLECTION:  Both the Barn and the Cottage would have their own bin store 
areas within the curtilage of the buildings. There are no waste water services in this 
locality therefore arrangements for foul sewage disposal will be made. 
 
CONCLUSION: The Charmydown Barn is a large traditional building of high visual quality 
and historic interest, and justifies its retention by conversion into a dwelling. However, the 
significant demolition of the former Lodge structures has reduced the historic significance 
of the former lodge and would result in the re-construction of a building for residential use 
which is tantamount to a new dwelling, which is considered inappropriate development in 
the Green Belt, contrary to policy GB.1and is harmful by definition. No special 
circumstances have been demonstrated that outweigh the harm to the Green Belt and 
local distinctiveness of the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. 
 
The application is accordingly recommended for refusal. 
 
 
 

Page 75



RECOMMENDATION 

 
 
REASON(S) FOR REFUSAL 
 
 1 The proposed re-instatement of the Former Charmydown Lodge Structures is 
tantamount to a new dwelling in the Green Belt which represents inappropriate 
development, and fails to demonstarte very special circumstances which would outweigh 
the harm by reason of inappropriateness to the Green Belt and local distinctiveness of the 
Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, contrary to Policy GB1, GB.2 and NE.2 of the Bath 
and North East Somerset Local Plan (including minerals and waste policies) 2007. 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
 1 This decision relates to drawing no's 1743A - E - 010, 1743A - E - 011, 1743A - E - 02, 
1743A - E - 03, 1743A - E - 05, 1743A - P - 010, 1743A - P - 02, 1743A - P - 03, 1743A - 
P - 04, 1743A - P - 06, 1743A - P - 232, 1743A - S/01, 1743A-P-221, 1743A-P-222, 
1743A-P-223, 1743A-P-224, 1743A-P-231, 282/001 REV. C, CHA_014, CHA_015, 
CHA_016, CHA_017, CHA_018, CHA_019, CHA_020, CHA_021, CHA_022, CHA_023, 
CHA_024, CHA_025, CHA_028 B, CHA_030 REV. A, CHA_031REVA, CHA_039, 
CHA_040, CHA_041, CHA_042, CHA_043, CHA_044, CHA_045, CHA_046, CHA_047, 
CHA_048, CHA_049, The Arboricultural Report, Schedule of Rainwater goods, Window 
Schedule, Schedule of Materials, Statement of Architectural and Historical Significance, 
Structural Survey - Barn, Structural Survey - Former cottages and updated Ecological 
Statement date stamped 20th December 2012 and drawing no's 1743A-P-011 A and 
1743A-P-05 B date stamped 28th February 2013. 
 
Decision Making Statement 
 
In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied with 
the aims of paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Framework. Notwithstanding 
informal advice offered by the Local Planning Authority the submitted application was 
unacceptable for the stated reasons and the applicant was advised that the application 
was to be recommended for refusal. Despite this the applicant choose not to withdraw the 
application and having regard to the need to avoid unnecessary delay the Local Planning 
Authority moved forward and issued its decision. In considering whether to prepare a 
further application the applicant's attention is drawn to the original discussion/negotiation. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 76



 
 

Item No:   3 

Application No: 12/05580/LBA 

Site Location: Charmydown Lodge Charmydown Lane Swainswick Bath BA1 8AB 

 
 

Ward: Bathavon North  Parish: St. Catherine  LB Grade:  

Ward Members: Councillor M Veal Councillor Gabriel Batt Councillor Geoff Ward
  

Application Type: Listed Building Consent (Alts/exts) 

Proposal: Internal and external alterations for the conversion of Charmydown 
Barn to a 5no. bed dwelling, alteration and reinstatement of 
Charmydown Lodge to a 3no. bed dwelling, retention of new 
detached garage block, minor works to the walls of the former pigsties 
following demolition of modern barns, stables and lean-to (revisions to 
permitted scheme 08/04768/FUL and 08/04769/LBA). 

Page 77



Constraints: Agric Land Class 1,2,3a, Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, 
Greenbelt, Public Right of Way, Water Source Areas,  

Applicant:  Dormie Holdings Ltd. 

Expiry Date:  14th February 2013 

Case Officer: Ian Lund 

 
REPORT 
REASON FOR REPORTING APPLICATION TO COMMITTEE 
A previous similar application relating to this site was considered by the Committee. 
 
DESCRIPTION OF SITE AND APPLICATION 
The former Charmydown Farmhouse stands in open countryside to the north east of 
Swainswick village and is listed Grade II in recognition of its special architectural and 
historic interest. The associated barn and the dilapidated structures that previously formed 
a pair of semi detached cottages (known as Charmydown Lodge) have been previously 
considered to fall within the curtilage of the Farmhouse. The farmhouse which lies to the 
south west of the barn is in separate ownership and does not form part of this application. 
 
THE APPLICATION PROPOSAL:   
The proposed scheme is essentially similar to that previously consented. The application 
is comprehensive and encompasses all the elements previously considered. In summary it 
requests the conversion of the barn into a five bedroom single dwelling, the re-instatement 
of the semi-detached cottages to form a single dwelling, the retention of a single storey 
garage and the re-instatement of the piggeries, adjacent to north east of the barn, to form 
an ancillary outbuilding. 
 
Some aspects of the approved scheme have already been implemented. However 
consent is now requested for additional works which comprise the following main 
elements: 
 
Additional works to the Main Barn 
Additional work to the walls of the former pigsties 
Regularisation of the taking down of external walls of The Lodge, and substantial 
reconstruction 
 
A more thorough explanation of these elements is included below. 
 
PLANNING HISTORY 
 
Planning permission and listed building consent (02/00984/LBA) for conversion of the barn 
and cottages into two dwellings granted in August 2002. Not implemented and now 
expired. 
 
Planning permission and listed building consent (08/04769/LBA) for conversion of the barn 
and cottages into two dwellings granted in December 2010. Partly implemented. 
 
 
 
 

Page 78



SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS/REPRESENTATIONS 
Parish Council : 
 
No response 
 
Ecologist : 
 
No response 
 
National Amenity Bodies : 
 
Consulted due the extent of demolition that has taken place but no responses have been 
received 
 
Arboricultural Officer : 
 
It is unclear how the revisions will impact on the trees on the site. The submitted Tree 
Protection Plan now shows a new access road to the north ( between T89  and T90 etc ) 
which is beyond the red line boundary of the original planning application ( 08/04768/FUL 
). The submissions do not include the extent of this new access or construction methods 
or whether any further trees are implicated in the proposal. 
 
The Arboricultural Report has not been revised to address any changes such as the new 
access road or rebuilding of the demolished walls. The swimming pool appears to have 
been relocated closer to the canopy of T66 ( mature Beech ) resulting in the likelihood of 
increased debris dropping into it.  
 
There is insufficient information to provide arboricultural comments. 
 
Other representations : 
 
A letter has been received from a neighbour to the site. The substance of the 
communication does not relate accurately to the listed building issues, and as repeat 
comments have been submitted on the planning application are best considered in that 
context. The main issues raised relate to an objection to the development of the farm 
workers cottages as they have long been in a derelict and ruinous state. The new house 
will be larger than the original cottages. The pigsties appear to have been freely 
demolished, and any building would be a new one in the green belt. The introduction of a 
new access road is opposed as heavy equipment has already caused damage to the 
access track. Finally, the sheer weight of documentation serves only to confuse and 
distract.    
 
A further letter of objection, also repeated to the planning reference, has been received. 
The main points are the cottages were abandoned and have been ruinous for many years. 
Beautiful stone towers behind the barn have been torn down. The writer is highly critical of 
the documents submitted in support the application and he regards the application as 
being contemptuous and an attempt to manipulate facts.  
 
 
 

Page 79



 
 
POLICIES/LEGISLATION 
LEGISLATION 
The primary consideration is the duty placed on the Council under S 16 of the Listed 
Buildings Act to have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its 
setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses. 
 
NATIONAL POLICY 
Section 12 'Conserving and enhancing the historic environment' of the National Planning 
Policy Framework sets out the government's high-level policies concerning heritage and 
sustainable development.  The Historic Environment Planning Practice Guide published 
jointly by CLG, dcms, and English Heritage provides more detailed advice with regard to 
alterations to listed buildings, development in conservation areas and world heritage sites. 
 
 
 
OFFICER ASSESSMENT 
The general principles concerning this ensemble of protected buildings were re-
established by the committee as recently as November 2010. The overall details of the 
case do not therefore need to be repeated at length again. The focus needs to be on any 
changes to the surrounding circumstances and variations to the details of the scheme. 
 
The main change to background policy is the publication of the NPPF. In respect of the 
historic environment the government's policy is not greatly altered. When the previous 
applications were considered PPS 5 had only recently been published and its contents 
were essentially absorbed into the all-embracing NPPF published during 2012. However, 
NPPF does emphasise a general requirement that wherever possible local planning 
authorities should approach decision-taking in a positive way and work proactively with 
applicants to secure developments that improve the economic, social and environmental 
conditions of the area. 
 
Changes to the main barn 
 
Further structural surveys have been commissioned which identify a need to re-build the 
lower half of a short section of the north elevation. Clarification has been sought from the 
agent who has confirmed that the stone repairs to a (subterraneum) section of the north 
wall of the main barn will be carefully carried out in a piecemeal fashion to avoid any 
danger of the collapse of the wall above.     
 
Members may recall that there is bat activity within the application site. The Habitats 
Directive applies to listed building applications.  Following discussions with agent, details 
of the baffles and entrances to satisfy the assumed ecology requirements have been 
provided.  
 
The overall scheme for the main barn remains acceptable. 
 
Changes to the piggeries 
 

Page 80



Works have begun to make the pigsties safe and this has included taking down the 
circular rubble stone piers found at the open front elevation. This work was not explicitly 
specified in the original applications. However, the former pigsties are of limited heritage 
significance, and the proposals include reinstating the piers. The removed stone has been 
carefully set aside for re-use. This additional work is minor and when completed will put 
the former piggery into sound condition.  
 
Changes to The Lodge  
 
An update to the planning report in November 2010 indicated that the Council's Building 
Control Surveyor had confirmed that the cottages were structurally sound and capable of 
being renovated without major reconstruction. The applications and reports referred to a 
proposed restoration. However, the works undertaken so far do not conform to the 
approved drawings particularly with regard to the extent of demolition. The amount of the 
Lodge that has had to be taken down means that the scheme can no longer be accurately 
described as conversion. The current application now involves substantial reconstruction. 
The principal south, and west, elevations remain largely intact as freestanding walls but 
the rear and east elevations have been taken down and would need to be completely 
rebuilt in order to put the property into habitable condition.  
 
In mitigation a GL Hearn Statement submitted with the application indicates the winters of 
2010 and 2011 were particularly severe and this had a significant detrimental effect on the 
exposed masonry walling; and in addition mature trees had taken root within the roofless 
building further weakening its structure. The report also states English Heritage has 
confirmed that the Barn and Lodge are listed buildings, being part of the original curtilage 
of Charmydown farmhouse when it was listed.  
 
It is perhaps possible this may be true, although determining the extent of curtilage is not 
normally a role performed by English Heritage, and as the evidence has not been shared 
with the LPA it should be afforded little weight.  
 
Supporting documents argue the degree of loss is not as dramatic as it may initially 
appear because surviving elements of the original building constitute its most important 
features. It is also argued the contextual relationship with the adjacent long barn and the 
farmhouse is of such significance that if the Lodge was lost this would have a detrimental 
impact on the character of the farmstead as a whole. 
 
The LPA is also asked to accept the taking down works were not undertaken with 
malicious intent.  
 
It is acknowledged that the walling was not taken down with complete disdain and  the 
rubble stone was carefully set aside for re-use.  The surviving walls have been given 
temporary support and the heads protected. With these aspects in mind, officers have not 
recommended a prosecution. It might also be helpful to point out that the conservation of 
historic buildings often requires on-going evaluation as work progresses and your 
conservation officers are experienced in dealing with situations that may arise.  In these 
circumstances, and having regard to the build-up to the commencement of the project, it 
disappointing to say the least, that the decision by the developer to take down the walls 
was reached without liaison with the LPA. It is possible that had discussion taken place at 

Page 81



an appropriate time a greater emphasis could have been put on consolidation of fragile 
masonry rather than on re-construction.  
 
Conclusion 
 
For the reasons given above the proposed works to the main barn and the former piggery 
are not controversial. The proposals will preserve the special interest and setting of the 
farmhouse, and will not adversely affect its contribution to the local scene. In terms of the 
NPPF, taken as a whole, the  proposal will  not lead to substantial harm to the significance 
of a designated heritage asset, and will help secure a viable use for other assets. 
 
The main issue relates to the taking down and, substantial amount of rebuilding, at The 
Lodge. In weighing up the acceptability of the proposals the application provides the 
prospect of arresting the long term decline of the former cottages, at least of the surviving 
elements. The scheme would also secure a viable use with regard to future maintenance 
and security. It could also be argued to favour the setting of the listed farmhouse, and to 
preserve and enhance the group of buildings forming the historic farmstead.  
 
On the other hand, the amount of rebuilding that is now essential means that as regards 
The Lodge the scheme can no longer be readily recognised as a building conservation 
project.  
 
The key to the decision rests with understanding the significance and level of importance 
of the building. The farmhouse, is clearly a designated heritage asset. As reported 
previously, the main barn should also be regarded as a heritage asset, as it would appear 
to meet the criteria for listing in its own right. It is a large, rare and interesting survival, 
demanding every effort be made to ensure its conservation. The Lodge however is 
essentially formed from two standard cottages. Although originating in the nineteenth 
century a great deal of heritage significance had been lost as a result of poor maintenance 
and decay during the second half of the 20th century. 
 
When the property was last considered by the committee the roof had collapsed and the 
general condition was ruinous. The significance of the ruin has been reduced again as a 
result of the recent taking down of the rear and east walls. For these reasons it has less 
importance than it had previously. Arguably the reconstruction will make a small 
contribution to the integrity of this isolated farmstead but the preservation of the 
comparatively small amount of the physical remains of  The Lodge is of marginal meaning 
from a heritage point of view. Essentially The Lodge would comprise a large percentage of 
new or re-constructed elements. As a stand-alone feature the significance of the rebuilt 
Lodge would be very limited. This however does not make the proposals objectionable. 
The policy context for the accompanying planning application has to be re-assessed but, 
provided the proposed works to The Lodge are completed with sympathy towards the 
setting of the farmhouse and the main barn, there is no reason why the grant of listed 
building consent should not be recommended for the proposed works.  The decision-
taking body is entitled to re-consider the case in the light of the current circumstances but 
a positive recommendation in respect of the amended specifications is generally in line 
with the previous wishes of the committee.   
 
 
 

Page 82



 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

CONSENT with condition(s) 
 
CONDITIONS 
 
 1 The additional works hereby approved shall be begun before the expiration of three 
years from the date of this consent 
 
Reason: To comply with Section 18 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990 (as amended). 
 
 2 With regard to the main barns and proposed attached structures,  prior to the 
commencement of works, details of all new external joinery and glazing design shall be 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These details shall include depth of 
reveal, materials and full working drawings including both horizontal and vertical sections, 
to a scale of not less than 1:10. At no time shall the approved joinery be altered without 
the prior approval, in writing, of the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to be satisfied with the completed 
appearance of the buildings. 
 
 3 At no time shall any flues, vents, meter boxes or other fixtures be attached to the 
exterior of the buildings other than those approved as part of this consent, without the 
prior approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to be satisfied with the completed 
appearance of the buildings. 
 
 4 Full details of the treatment to be given to the eaves, soffits and verges shall be 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of 
the works. Such details shall include precise construction information and materials shall 
be implemented in strict accordance with these details. 
 
Reason: In the interests of protecting the character of the Listed Buildings. 
 
 5 Full details of all chimneys, flues and vents shall be submitted to and approved by the 
Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of the works. Such details shall 
include precise size, and where appropriate, samples and shall once agreed be strictly 
complied with. 
 
Reason: In the interests of protecting the character of the Listed Buildings. 
 
 6 With respect to the main barns a full schedule of the details of the roof repairs and any 
structural repairs (or other such schedule as may be deemed to be appropriate) shall be 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. Such schedule shall, once 
agreed be strictly complied with. 
 
Reason: In the interests of protecting the character of the building. 

Page 83



 
 7 With respect to the main barns the method and manner of the removal and replacement 
of the flagstone floors shall be agreed by the Local Planning Authority. Their removal and 
reinstatement shall be in strict accordance with these details. 
 
Reason: In order to protect the character of the buildings. 
 
 8 With regard to the main barns full details of all joinery, including windows, doors, 
screens and internal railings, shall be submitted to and agreed by the Local 
Planning Authority prior to the commencement of the works. Such details shall include 
horizontal and vertical cross-sections at a scale of not less than 1:20 and shall be 
implemented and thereafter maintained in strict accordance with these agreed details 
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to protect the character of this Listed 
Building. 
 
 9 With regard to the main barns full details of the design and means of fixing of the 
proposed plywood baffles shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority prior to the commencement of the works. The works shall be then implemented 
in strict accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: In the interests of protecting the character of the Listed Building. 
 
10 With regard to the main barn no works shall take place until full details of a Wildlife 
Protection and Enhancement Scheme have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the local planning authority. These details shall include (but shall not be limited to): 
(i) a method statement for the retention of all bat roosts on the site including the 
maintenance of 
the bats' existing accesses or the provision of alternative new accesses and the proposed 
timing of 
all works affecting the bat roosts and details of a monitoring scheme 
(ii) details of any lighting scheme to prevent harm to bats and retention of dark areas and 
corridors 
for bats 
(iii) details of monitoring schemes, aftercare and/or management proposals as applicable 
for the 
above. 
All the proposed methodologies shall be in accordance with current published best 
practice 
guidance. 
 
Reason: to ensure that the conservation status of the various protected species present 
on the site 
is maintained and/or enhanced in accordance with national and European legislation and 
current 
policy. 
 

Page 84



11 The main barns shall not be occupied until all of the works detailed in the approved 
Wildlife Protection and Enhancement Scheme have been  implemented on the land to the 
written satisfaction of the local planning authority. 
 
Reason: to ensure that the conservation status of the various protected species present 
on the site is maintained and/or enhanced in accordance with national and European 
legislation and current policy. 
 
12 Following implementation of the works detailed in the approved Wildlife Protection and 
Enhancement Scheme pursuant to condition 18 above, the development shall thereafter 
be managed, maintained and monitored in accordance with the provisions of the approved 
Wildlife Protection and Enhancement Scheme (or such variations of the same as may be 
approved in writing by the Council from time to time). 
 
Reason: to ensure that the protected species present on the site are properly managed 
 
13 The development/works hereby permitted shall only be implemented in accordance 
with the plans as set out in the plans list below. 
 
Reason: To define the terms and extent of the permission. 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
 1 Existing Plans : 1743a-s101, 1743a-e-02, 1743a-e-03, 1743a-e-05, 1743a-e-010, and 
1743a-e-011 all date stamped 20 December 2012. 
 
Proposal Plans :  
Main barn and garage - 1743a-p-03, 1743a-p-04, 1743a-p-05, 1743a-p-06 date stamped 
20 December 2012, and revised drawing 1743-p-05b date stamped 28 February 2013. 
The Lodge - 1743a-p-010,  282/001c, date stamped 20 December 2012 and revised 
drawing 1743a-p-011a date stamped 28 February 2013,  
Overall Site Plan 1743a-p-02 date stamped 20 December 2012. 
 
Fenestration schedules / plans for The Lodge : Window schedule, Door schedule, 1743a-
p-221, 1743a-p-222, 1743-a-p-223, 1743a-p-224, 1743a-p-231, and 1743a-p-232 all date 
stamped 20 December 2012. 
 
Additional documents : Lime mortar mix, schedule of rainwater goods, schedule of 
materials, lime render specification, photographs of material samples, and draft S106 
agreement all date stamped 20 December 2012, and email dated 28 February 2013 from 
Watson, Bertram and Fell.  
 
Design and Access Statement, GL Hearn Planning Statement, Mann Williams Main and 
Cross Barns Structural Report, Mann Williams The Lodge Structural Commentary, J R 
Sutcliffe Charmydown Lodge Statement of Architectural and Historical Assessment, Tyler 
Grange Update Ecological Assessment, S J Stephens Associates Arboricultural Report 
and Tree Protection Plan all date stamped 20 December 2012. 
 
 2 REASONS FOR GRANTING CONSENT  
 

Page 85



The decision to grant consent subject to conditions has been made in accordance with 
Section 16 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act to pay special 
attention to the preservation of the protected buildings and the setting of a nearby principal 
building. The decision is also generally consistent with the part 12 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework and accompanying practice guidance and has taken into account the 
views of third parties.  
 
Whilst the works have the potential to impact upon protected species, these impacts have 
been identified, assessed and a suitable mitigation scheme designed. The amended 
proposals are considered to meet the requirements of the E U Habitats Directive. Although 
the bat roost situated in the barn will be preserved, the development has the potential to 
cause deterioration of the roost. However, it is considered that the derogation tests in 
Article 16 of the Habitats Directive are satisfied as there are considered to be imperative 
reasons of overriding public interest in restoring the historic barn structure to a beneficial 
use, there is no satisfactory alternative and the development would not have a detrimental 
effect upon the conservation status of the bats. The impacts of the development on 
protected species have been identified, assessed and a suitable mitigation scheme 
designed. The development is therefore considered to meet the requirements of the 
Habitats Directive. 
 
Decision Making Statement 
 
In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied with 
the aims of paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Framework. For the reasons 
given, and expanded upon in a related committee report, a positive view of the revised  
proposals was taken and consent was granted. 
 
 3 Informative 
 
Please note the grant of listed building consent for the proposed works does not authorise 
development requiring separate planning permission. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 86



Item No:   4 

Application No: 13/00376/FUL 

Site Location: The Chase Rectory Lane Compton Martin Bristol Bath And North East 
Somerset 

 
 

Ward: Chew Valley South  Parish: Compton Martin  LB Grade: N/A 

Ward Members: Councillor V L Pritchard  

Application Type: Full Application 

Proposal: Erection of extensions including a first floor extension to create a 1.5 
storey dwelling (Revised proposal) 

Constraints: Airport Safeguarding Zones, Agric Land Class 1,2,3a, Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty, Housing Development Boundary, Water 
Source Areas,  

Applicant:  Mr And Mrs C & J Linegar 

Expiry Date:  26th March 2013 

Page 87



Case Officer: Heather Faulkner 

 
REPORT 
Reasons for reporting application to committee 
 
The application has been referred to Committee due to the comments of the Parish 
Council, who object to the application for the reasons summarised in the representation 
section below. The Ward Councillor has also requested that the application be determined 
by the Committee. The Chair of Committee considers that this application raises difficult 
issues which can be heard at Committee. 
 
The application relates to a property in Compton Martin. The existing property is a 
bungalow which is set at a slightly higher level than the road and is partially screened by 
trees. The existing bungalow is of render construction under a concrete tile roof. The site 
slopes down from south to north and there are relatively modern properties to the north 
and south of the bungalow. There is a two storey house set at a higher level to the south 
(with garage nearest the boundary) with a split level dwelling at a lower level to the north. 
The dwelling at a lower level to the north has windows in the side elevation that look 
towards the site. 
 
The bungalow is within the AONB and is to the south of the Conservation Area. 
 
This application seeks to develop the property by adding a first floor extension as well as 
extending the footprint of the property to the rear. The building would project by 
approximately 2.3 metres from the existing main rear wall of the property. The height of 
the building would increase from 6.1metres to the ridge to 8.1 metres. The extended 
building would have a hipped roof of a similar pitch to the existing bungalow. The existing 
flat roof extensions on the property will remain and the ground floor window detail will 
remain the same on the front elevation. Two gable dormers are proposed in the front and 
rear elevations of the property. 
 
Relevant history: 
 
Planning application 12/02072/FUL for the erection of extensions and provision of a first 
floor was refused on 23rd July 2012 for the following reason: 
 
The proposed extensions, by reason of their height, mass, bulk and detailed design would 
fail to respond to its local context, would not respect and complement the existing dwelling 
and would harm the natural beauty of the Mendip Hills AONB. The proposals would 
therefore be contrary to "saved" policies D.4 and NE.2 of the Bath and North East 
Somerset Local Plan. 
 
This decision was subsequently appealed and the appeal was dismissed on 28th 
November 2012. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 88



SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS/REPRESENTATIONS 
 
Neighbouring properties were consulted and two representations were received. The 
comments made are summarised below: 
 
- Objection to loss of views from property and garden 
- Loss of value to property 
- Inaccuracies on the plans and lack of detail 
- The bulk and mass of the application are not materially different from the previous 
application. 
- The proposal is not in keeping with the AONB and conflicts with policy NE2. 
- Loss of amenity due to oppressive and overshadowing effects of development. 
- Increased overlooking and loss of privacy 
- Loss of light to neighbouring property  
- Impact on light received to solar panels. 
 
Case officer comments: 
Loss of view and impact on property values are not material planning considerations and 
therefore cannot be given significant weight in the determination of this application. 
 
Concerns have been raised in respect of the accuracy and level of details on the plans as 
well as the fact that a sunlight study has not been submitted. The level of information 
submitted is considered to be adequate and is the same level of detail as the previous 
application. This level of information was also considered to be adequate by the Planning 
Inspectorate when considering the recent appeal. The case officer has also visited the 
neighbouring property to assist the residents in understanding the drawings. 
 
Compton Martin Parish Council: Object, reasons summarised below: 
- The revised application is improved design but does not overcome the Parishes 
previous concerns 
- The plans lack dimensions 
- Increase in height of the roof 
- The topography of the site should be considered  
- Overlook neighbouring properties 
- Design out of keeping with the area 
- The development does not enhance landscape and open space. 
 
POLICIES/LEGISLATION 
Policies/Legislation: 
The following "saved" policies in the Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan (including 
minerals 
and waste policies) are relevant to this proposal: 
D.2 - General design 
D.4 - Townscape 
NE.2 - AONB 
NE.4 - Trees 
 
At its meeting on 4th March 2013 the Council approved the amended Core Strategy for 
Development Management purposes. Whilst it is not yet part of the statutory Development 
Plan the Council attaches substantive weight to the amended Core Strategy in the 

Page 89



determination of planning applications in accordance with the considerations outlined in 
paragraph 216 of the National Planning Policy Framework. Policies D.2 and D.4 of the 
local plan are proposed as saved policies within the submission core strategy. 
 
National guidance in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is also a material 
consideration. The following sections are of particular relevance: 
Section 7: Requiring good design 
Section 11: Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
 
 
OFFICER ASSESSMENT 
The previous application and subsequent appeals are key material considerations in the 
assessment of this application. A key point to note is that the previous application was not 
refused on the basis of the impact on the neighbouring property and this issue was not 
raised by the Planning Inspector at the appeal stage.  
 
There are a number of comparisons between the previous proposal and the current 
application; however the scheme has also been significantly alerted in terms of its design. 
The previous application proposed to add an additional storey to the property however, 
the way in which this was proposed significantly altered the character of the property 
making it appear as a bland modern style gable fronted building. 
 
The current proposals show a building with a slightly reduced footprint. The height of the 
proposed building would be around 0.6 metres higher than previously proposed although 
the roof would be hipped in order to reduce its mass. 
 
The rear elevation of the building, which is the one most visible from the open countryside 
now has a more symmetrical appearance. 
 
Character and appearance  
 
The previous application was refused for the reason given above due to the affect of the 
extension on the character of the area and the host dwelling. This issue was discussed at 
length in the Inspectors report. 
 
The Inspector reported the following about the existing bungalow: 
 
"The existing bungalow is modest in character. It has a simple, traditional and unassuming 
design. Whilst it has been altered, it retains a certain amount of symmetry, with its near 
square floor-plan and box bay windows, their gables echoing the line of the pyramid roof" 
 
It was considered that the previous proposal almost entirely subsumed this modest 
character and traditional appearance with little vestige of the character of the original 
building remaining. It was concluded that the proposed conflicted with Policy D.4 of the 
adopted Local Plan which required the appearance of extensions to respect and 
complement their host building. The revised proposals whilst still increasing the scale of 
the building are more complementary to the existing character of the building. The change 
to the roof form is most significant as it takes a similar form to the original roof of the 
house.  
 

Page 90



The west elevation of the property retains its symmetrical character and the gable dormer 
windows are similar to gables currently existing on the bay windows to this elevation. 
 
The east elevation, fronting Rectory Lane, as existing lacks any clear distinction as the 
front of the property. Whilst the window arrangement at the ground floor level is somewhat 
haphazard this is the existing arrangement. The addition of the extra floor does not harm 
the appearance of this elevation. Overall it is considered that the proposed extension 
whilst adding an additional storey to the building does retain the character of the original 
building. 
 
Turning to the impact of the development on its wider context the Inspector had 
reservations about the quality of the design. The Inspector noted the following: 
 
"The properties in the vicinity of the site are of various ages, sizes and designs and, 
setting aside the conflict with Local Plan Policy D.4 identified above, I acknowledge that a 
substantial modern house would not be out of place." 
 
Therefore if it is considered that the alterations to the building are acceptable the size of 
the building cannot be considered to be a reason for refusal of the proposals in design 
terms. The design of the building is significantly improved from the previous scheme. The 
rear elevation which is most visible from the footpath to the rear has been significantly 
improved and the front elevation will remain partially screened from the road which the 
Inspector acknowledged. It is considered that the alterations would not have an adverse 
impact on its setting in the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and could not therefore be 
refused on the basis of NE.2. 
 
To conclude it is considered that the revisions to the proposals are sufficient to overcome 
the concerns raised at the Planning appeal. 
 
 
Impact on neighbouring properties 
 
Concerns have been raised by the occupants of the property to the north of The Chase. 
When the previous application was assessed the following conclusion was reached in 
terms of impact on the neighbouring properties: 
 
"The proposals will have an impact on the amenity of the neighbouring occupier to the 
north. 
However, the existing bungalow and proposed extension are set in from the existing 
boundary and their impact on the amenity of the neighbouring occupier to the north will not 
result in "significant harm" by reason of loss of light or overshadowing". 
 
As previously suggested there are similarities between this application and the previous 
application in terms of the impact on the neighbouring property. Whist it is noted that the 
resultant building would be higher than previously proposed the hipped form of the roof 
helps to lessen this and reduce the overall impact. 
 
During the assessment of this current application a visit was made to the adjacent 
property 'Meadow Combe'. The property has a side window facing towards The Chase, 
this window is a high level window and provides a secondary source of light to the room 

Page 91



as there are also windows in the rear of the property which provide light and outlook. 
Whilst it is acknowledged that the light levels to this side window would be affected, and to 
a limited degree the outlook from the window, as previously concluded this is not 
considered to be so harmful to warrant the applications refusal.  
 
No issues in respect of overlooking have been raised previously in respect of this 
application. The positioning of the windows in this application are broadly similar to the 
previous application. The side windows at ground floor level would not introduce any 
greater level of overlooking than currently exists. A rooflight is proposed in either side of 
the roof slope however one relates to a stair way and the other to a bathroom so would 
not result in a harmful level of overlooking. The windows proposed in the rear elevation 
would face at an angle towards Meadow Coombe. However, there are already some 
views into this property's house and garden from The Chase and the angle of overlooking 
would not be direct. It is also of note that the side window of Meadow Coombe already 
looks directly into the garden of The Chase. Overall the level of overlooking and relative 
privacy is considered to be acceptable. Conditions will be recommended to ensure no 
further windows are installed in the side elevations of the building. 
 
The proposals will also have an impact on the views from some properties, but the private 
views from existing houses are not generally material considerations.  
 
The conclusions reached in terms of the impact on neighbours have not significantly 
altered from the previous decision. It is also of note that no reference was made by the 
Planning Inspector to any harmful impact on the neighbouring property. Overall, the 
proposals will accord with Local Plan policy D.2.  
 
 
Other matters 
 
The neighbouring occupiers have also raised concerns in terms of the impact the increase 
in the height of the building would have on the level of light received to their solar panels. 
This impact is not one that would harm their amenity as such but there is some weight to 
be given to this issue on the grounds of sustainability. 
 
The solar panels were in place at the time of the previous application and subsequent 
appeal and the panels were not a reason for the refusal of the application. 
 
Whilst it is noted that some light may be lost to these panels in the winter months when 
the sun is lower in the sky the impact this would have would not result in a significant loss 
that would warrant the refusal of this application. 
 
The proposals should not harm the existing mature Beech tree on the site and they would 
therefore accord with Local Plan policy NE.4 
 
Conclusion 
 
The Planning Inspector in her review of the previous case considered that a substantial 
house would not be out of place in this location. The amendments to the design of the 
proposal show a scheme which better complements the character of the existing house 
and would not harmfully impact the appearance of the wider area. 

Page 92



 
Whilst the impact on the neighbouring property has been acknowledged and carefully 
assessed the impact on them is not considered to be so severe to warrant the refusal of 
this application . 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

PERMIT with condition(s) 
 
CONDITIONS 
 
 1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended) and to avoid the accumulation of unimplemented planning permissions. 
 
 2 All external walling and roofing materials to be used shall match those of the existing 
building in respect of type, size, colour, pointing, coursing, jointing, profile and texture. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the development and the surrounding area. 
 
 3 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 1995 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or 
without modification) no windows, roof lights or openings, other than those shown on the 
plans hereby approved, shall be formed in the side elevations (north east or south west) at 
any time unless a further planning permission has been granted.  
 
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of adjoining occupiers from overlooking and loss of 
privacy. 
 
 4 The development/works hereby permitted shall only be implemented in accordance with 
the plans as set out in the plans list below. 
 
Reason: To define the terms and extent of the permission. 
 
PLANS LIST: 
 
 1 This decision is taken on the basis of the following drawing numbers: 
Received 29th January 2013 
Design and Access Statement 
2012/Chase01B Location Plan 
2013/Chase/03B Existing Elevations 
2012/Chase04B Existing Elevations 
2013/Chase06B Proposed Ground Floor Plan 
2013/Chase07B Proposed First Floor Plan 
2013/Chase08B Proposed Elevations 
2013/Chase/09B Proposed elevations  
 
Received 1st March 2013 
 

Page 93



2012/Chase05B Existing Floor Plan 
 
Received 6th March 2013 
2013/Chase02D Existing/Proposed Block |Plan 
 
Received 15th March 2013 
Site Plan with dimensions 
 
 2 REASONS FOR GRANTING APPROVAL  
 
1  The development is considered to be of an acceptable scale, design and siting , which 
would preserve the character and appearance of this building and the surrounding Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty. There will be no harm to highway safety or residential 
amenity as a result of this development.  
 
2 The decision to grant approval has taken account of the Development Plan, 
relevant emerging Local Plans and approved Supplementary Planning Guidance.  This is 
in accordance with the Policies set out below at A. 
 
A. 
 
D.2 - General design and public Realm Considerations 
D.4 - Townscape considerations 
NE.2 - Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
NE.4 - Trees and Woodland conservation 
 
Bath & North East Somerset Local Plan including minerals and waste policies - adopted 
October 2007 
 
Bath and North East Somerset Submission Core Strategy (May 2011)  
 
The National Planning Policy Framework published in March 2012 
 
Decision Taking Statement 
 
In determining this application the Local Planning Authority considers it has complied with 
the aims of paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Framework. The applicant 
sought pre-application advice prior to this application being submitted. For the reasons 
given above the application was recommended for approval. 
 
 
 

Page 94


	Agenda
	8 Minutes: 13th March 2013
	Appendix1Update
	Appendix2Speakers
	Appendix3DecisionList

	10 Main Plans List - Applications for Planning Permission Etc for Determination by the Committee

